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Financial
(dollars in thousands)

2016

2015

$ 111,161
290,238
92,719
138,133

$ 109,973
274,973
88,023
2,519,131

1,442,816
84,638

1,317,959
79,709

27,380,403
4,672,961
22,707,442

27,878,383
4,542,408
23,335,975

9,693,143
11,062,850
1,951,449
$ 22,707,442

9,928,976
11,535,371
1,871,628
$ 23,335,975

5,277
2,736

5,275
2,697

1,307
906

1,282
885

$ 43,450
43,450

$ 41,820
41,820

1,014

1,032

Principal sources of revenues
Tuition and fees (net)
Government grants and contracts
Private gifts, grants, and contracts
Investment earnings, including unrealized gains or losses
Principal purposes of expenditures
Educational and general
Auxiliary
Summary of financial position
Assets
Liabilities
Net assets
Net assets
Unrestricted/designated
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted
Total

S t u d e n ts

Enrollment
Undergraduate students
Graduate students
Degrees conferred
Bachelor’s degrees
Advanced and all other degrees
Annual tuition rate
Undergraduate
Graduate
Fa c u lt y

Full-time equivalent

“Endowments are frequently
mischaracterized as ‘rainy day
funds’ or ‘nest eggs.’ We depend
on our endowment year-by-year
to cover half the cost of our
operating budget and to meet
high-priority capital needs.”
—President Christopher Eisgruber
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Letter from the Treasurer

I

am proud to share the report of the
treasurer for fiscal year 2016. This
year’s report focuses on the endowment
—our single largest financial asset.
When the fiscal year ended on
June 30, 2016, Princeton University’s
endowment was valued at $21.6 billion, a
decrease of $550 million from the previous
year. The endowment earned a 0.8 percent
investment return for the year. It is essential
that we consider this one-year return
within the context of our longer term
performance and our overall long-term
focus. The average annual return on the
endowment for the past decade is 8.2
percent, which places the University’s
endowment among the top percentile of
461 institutions listed by the Wilshire
Trust Universe Comparison Service.

our campus—classrooms, laboratories,
residence facilities, libraries, museums, and
green spaces—provide the environment
for collaboration and serendipitous
gatherings that enable and enhance the
educational experience. Lastly, financial
capital, mainly the endowment, enables
the development and excellence of
Princeton’s human and physical assets.
We plan for these three assets with a very
long-term horizon, and we depend on the
financial assets for support of physical and
human capital.
The following narrative, “Endowment
101,” is intended as a summary of the
management and use of the University’s
endowment. You will also find a summary
of our year-end financial results from
Ken Molinaro, our controller, and a more
detailed investment report from Andy
Golden, president of Princo.
It is an honor and a privilege to serve
Princeton University and to steward the
financial assets that enable this exceptional
world of discovery and learning for our
faculty and students.
Best regards,

As a reminder, we have three distinct
forms of capital assets: human, physical,
and financial. The most important asset is
our human capital: the faculty, students,
and staff who engage in and support
world-class teaching and research. The
interaction among and between the
students and faculty is the lifeblood of the
scholarly process. The physical assets of
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Carolyn N. Ainslie
Vice President for Finance and Treasurer

ENDOWMENT
101:

Payout from the endowment is used every year to support essential
functions of the University: to build and sustain an excellent faculty
and the libraries, laboratories, technological infrastructure, and other
resources that faculty and students need to do their work.

The extraordinary financial support provided by Princeton’s
endowment is an essential ingredient of its world-class
teaching and research mission, and its commitment to
making the University accessible and affordable to students
from all socioeconomic backgrounds. From its earliest
years, Princeton has been fortunate in the dedication and
generosity of its alumni, parents, and friends, yielding an
endowment that is the fourth largest overall and the largest
per student in the country. The University’s first endowed
scholarship fund was created in 1792, and in fiscal year
2016 student aid endowments supported 81 percent of
the $138 million undergraduate scholarship budget. Payout
from the endowment is used every year to support essential
functions of the University: to build and sustain an excellent
faculty as well as the libraries, laboratories, technological

infrastructure, and other resources that faculty and students
need to do their work. It allows the University to launch new
programmatic and research efforts in important emerging
fields including, in recent years, genomics, neuroscience,
bioengineering, and statistics and machine learning.
The endowment is a critical but often misunderstood
engine of the University’s mission. Its very size breeds
misconceptions: Why would an institution with an endowment
worth $21.6 billion collect tuition or continue to raise funds?
Why could such a University not “do anything it wants” with
so large an endowment?
Addressing these questions requires a clear understanding of what the endowment is, including how it is
structured, who invests its funds, and what dictates how
much of it is spent.
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WHAT ARE THE SOURCES of the
endowment?
The donor may also establish one or
more purpose restrictions that govern
the spending of its earnings.

Princeton’s endowment comprises nearly 4,300 individual
funds, many of which are governed by gift agreements that
specify their intended uses. These documents determine, for
example, whether the fund is a “true” endowment—that is,
whether the principal amount (the dollar value of the original
gift) must remain intact, permitting only the earnings to be
spent. Gifts to the University that are not a true endowment
may still be invested in the endowment, in the event that
Princeton plans to maintain the principal of the fund over
the long term. These funds are called “quasi-endowments”
and can be liquidated—that is, spent down in their entirety—
if necessary. However, many quasi-endowments support
ongoing commitments such as building maintenance and
thus function like a true endowment.
In addition to specifying a gift as a true endowment,
the donor may establish one or more purpose restrictions
that govern the spending of its earnings. Some of these
restrictions meet large, general needs like student aid and
faculty research support. Other restricted funds contribute
to the work of individual academic or administrative units,
enabling, for example, the growth of the collections in the
library and the art museum. Still others sustain specific
activities, such as undergraduate senior thesis research
travel or innovative cross-disciplinary scholarship. Roughly
two-thirds of the University’s endowment funds carry some
form of donor-specified restriction. Numerous endowed gifts
and bequests are “for the general purposes of Princeton
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University.” The payout from such funds can be used to
support any and all aspects of the educational and research
mission. They may also be internally designated to support
emerging needs for which restricted funds are not available,
such as support for new programs and initiatives. Such
internal designations may be changed, if necessary.
Purpose Category ($ in millions)
Teaching and Research
Student Aid, Prizes, and Other Student Support
Departmental Programs and Support
Unrestricted—Designated for Operations
Unrestricted—Designated for Capital
Total Endowment Net Assets

FY 2015
$ 5,966
$ 4,053
$ 5,257
$ 4,244
$ 2,628

FY 2016
$5,797
$3,937
$5,099
$4,209
$2,553

$ 22,148

$21,595

The endowment’s roughly 4,300 funds in total
hold more than 2 million units. Each new gift purchases
endowment units based on the size of the gift and the
current value of a unit. (When this form of accounting was
first established in 1930, the value of a unit was set at $100.
At the close of fiscal year 2016, that value was $10,521.24.)
The University must account both for the book value of
each fund—the number of dollars originally contributed to
the fund, irrespective of the date of contribution—and for
the market value of the fund, which reflects accumulated
investment gains for each fund. The latter is computed by
multiplying the current value per endowment unit by the
number of endowment units owned by the fund.

An Endowed
Gift to Students
Martin A. Dale ’53 of Newark, N.J., attended Princeton thanks to generous support from the
William H. Cane Scholarship fund, a magnificent gift that has grown from $6.1 million at its
inception in the early 1950s to $370 million by the end of fiscal year 2016. A son of immigrants—
an engineer born in Poland and a pianist from Paris—Dale attributed his business success to his
Princeton education. His desire to give back impelled him to create the Martin A. Dale Awards,
enabling rising Princeton juniors to craft a non-credit-bearing summer experience around intellectual
curiosity and personal development, often involving travel. He was so thrilled by the reports of
the returning Dale scholars that he later made another donation to Princeton’s endowment to
create a year-long Martin A. Dale ’53 Fellowship for graduating seniors for a similar purpose.

His desire to give back impelled him to create the
Martin A. Dale Awards, enabling rising Princeton
juniors to craft a non-credit-bearing summer
experience around intellectual curiosity and personal
development, often involving travel.

A Dale alumna from the summer of 2016, Rabia Khan ’18, shares a number of qualities with
her benefactor: She too is a U.S. citizen from an immigrant family, a resident of Newark, and
a recipient of a Cane Scholarship. During her Dale-supported summer, Rabia (pronounced
“RUB-yuh”) journeyed through Spain and Morocco, tracing the architectural heritage of Muslim
culture, learning about the spiritual grounding of Sufi mysticism, and exploring the western
Mediterranean roots of her own religious tradition. She practiced her Princeton-acquired
Spanish with strangers she met on the road and broke her daily Ramadan fast with other
pilgrims at La Mezquita Mayor (the Great Mosque) in Granada. She attributes new knowledge,
increased confidence in international travel, and an enhanced appreciation of the value of
a U.S. passport to her Dale experience, all of which will serve her well in future Princeton
voyages and beyond.
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Professorships
Princeton has more than 200 professorship endowments, the associated titles of which are used
to honor the most distinguished of Princeton’s full professors. As usual with gifts to the endowment,
most of these were given by loyal alumni to further the intellectual aims of the University. Some
were solicited to build new fields of teaching and research at Princeton, such as the Bendheim/
Thoman, Evnin, and Gantz chairs in neuroscience, which have been crucial in helping the University
advance this critical frontier.

Endowed professorship titles can be used
at Princeton both to recruit new colleagues
and to recognize homegrown scholars.

Endowed professorship titles can be used at Princeton both to recruit new colleagues and to
recognize homegrown scholars. Sebastian Seung, author of Connectome: How the Brain’s Wiring
Makes Us Who We Are, joined the faculty in 2015 as the Evnin Professor in Neuroscience, while
Mung Chiang, founding chair of the Princeton Entrepreneurship Council and director of the Keller
Center for Innovation in Engineering Education, began his Princeton career as an assistant professor
in 2003 and was named to the Arthur LeGrand Doty Professorship of Electrical Engineering within
10 years. Faculty members retain the title of their professorships in retirement. For example,
recently retired professor and novelist Joyce Carol Oates, winner of the National Book Award
and the National Humanities Medal, is now the Roger S. Berlind ’52 Professor in the Humanities,
Emerita, while poet Tracy K. Smith, whose Life on Mars received the 2012 Pulitzer Prize, holds
the Berlind endowed chair.
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HOW IS THE
endowment
invested?

The rationale for this investment strategy is that
no one can predict short-term market activity,
and that prudent investing for an institution founded
in 1746 must take a long view to ensure its excellence
into the future.

Princeton’s endowment is managed by an office of the
University, the Princeton University Investment Company
(Princo). Its president, Andrew K. Golden, reports jointly
to the president of the University and to the chair of the
Princo Board of Directors. Princo invests heavily in equities,
including private equity, with the goal of producing a return
that will exceed the University’s inflation rate and preserve
the value of the endowment’s principal far into the future.
Its asset allocation (see Figure 1 on page 17) is established
with a very long term objective. The rationale for this
investment strategy is that no one can predict short-term
market activity, and that prudent investing for an institution

founded in 1746 must take a long view to ensure its
excellence into the future. Changes to the asset allocation
policy portfolio are considered only once per year, and then
in the form of small adjustments rather than upheavals.
At the same time, Princo’s investment staff are empowered
to use their own judgment to take advantage of market
opportunities by moving assets and changing external
investment managers within the broad policy portfolio.
Princo’s 16-person investment staff work on a “manager of
managers” basis: They identify and seek to gain access to
the very best investment managers around the world and
then monitor their performance.
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HOW is endowment
SPENding
determined?

Princeton depends on its endowment to cover half
of the operating budget and to meet high-priority
capital needs.

Each year, the University’s Board of Trustees sets endowment
payout per unit for the following year. The guidelines that
govern this determination are reviewed by the trustees on a
regular basis. These guidelines are based on two fundamental
principles. First, endowment spending should seek to achieve
the careful balance between meeting the needs of current
students and faculty and preserving purchasing power, so
that the endowment can fulfill donor obligations and sustain
the quality and affordability of a Princeton education for
future generations, even in volatile market conditions. This
concept is frequently described as “intergenerational equity.”
The second fundamental principle is that the payout from the
endowment should be sufficiently predictable to facilitate
responsible planning and reasonable budget stability, which
are critical given the large share of the budget supported by
the endowment.

Since 1979 Princeton has determined the annual rate
of payout from its endowment by applying a target range for
endowment spending, a presumed annual payout inflator, and
human judgment. From 1979 through 2009, the target range
for the spend rate—the fraction of endowment value per unit
expended in a given year—was 4 to 5 percent. Effective July 1,
2009, the trustees increased the upper bound of this range
to 5.75 percent. Effective July 1, 2015, the trustees increased
this upper bound yet again, to 6.25 percent, with the expectation that this would lead over time to an increase in the
average annual amount of endowment spending and also
reduce the potential temptation to react on a short-term basis
to the increased levels of volatility that have become the norm.
Endowment Metrics
FY 2008
Spending ($ in millions) $ 642
Spending Rate
4.6%
Investment Return
5.6%
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FY 2009
$ 715
4.8%
(23.5%)

FY 2010
$ 653
6.0%
14.7%

FY 2011
$ 691
5.1%
21.9%

As noted above, the trustees of the University annually
approve a payout amount per unit of endowment, which
normally grows by a standard annual inflator (5 percent per
year in recent years), subject to periodic special adjustments.
As the table below highlights, spending from the endowment
in support of student aid, teaching, and research continues
even during periods of volatility in financial markets. During
the 2008–2009 Great Recession, with investment returns
well below historical averages, Princeton continued to use
endowment payout to support the mission of the University.
The trustees also periodically approve an extraordinary
increment in payout from the endowment to coincide with
strategic investments. A notable increase was made
to support the elimination of mandatory loans from
undergraduate aid packages, replacing loans with increased
grants that did not have to be repaid. Since then, many of our
Ivy Plus peers have followed suit. More
recently, the trustees approved a 17
percent increase in the payout-per-unit
rate in fiscal year 2017 to support
the University strategic framework
published in January 2016.
Endowment payout plays a
central role in enabling Princeton to
provide an exceptional commitment to
affordability. For example, for typical
families earning up to $65,000,
Princeton’s financial aid package fully covers the cost of
tuition plus room and board. In addition, in recent years
about 83 percent of Princeton seniors have graduated
debt-free, and for those who choose to borrow (usually
for expenses such as an unpaid internship or a laptop
computer), the average total indebtedness at graduation
was $6,600, well below the norm at comparable institutions.
Princeton depends on its endowment to cover half of
the operating budget and to meet high-priority capital needs.
As a result, Princeton is able to offer world-class programs
of scholarship and research in well-established as well as
emerging fields, and can provide exceptional educational
opportunities at both the undergraduate and graduate levels.
FY 2012
$ 720
4.4%
3.1%

FY2013
$ 778
4.7%
11.7%

FY2014
$ 834
4.6%
19.6%

FY 2015
$ 875
4.2%
12.7%

FY 2016
$ 926
4.1%
0.8%
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Financial Statement Overview
L ette r f r o m t h e C o nt r o lle r

P

rinceton University’s financial results for fiscal year 2016 were not up to par, largely due to a
low investment return, although its overall financial condition remains stable and strong. Net
assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, decreased by $0.6 billion, or 2.7 percent, due
to nearly flat investment results combined with regular spending distributions from the Endowment,
which reduced its overall value. Total net assets of $22.7 billion at year-end declined from the
prior year’s high-water mark. The return of 0.8 percent from the managed investment portfolio was
mediocre at best, but still strong relative to the highest-performing peer group of universities with
large endowments. The University’s Endowment spending rate of 4.1 percent in 2016 was below
the midpoint of the spending policy band established by its Board of Trustees, and consistent with
Princeton’s conservative fiscal management track record. An operating surplus of $17.0 million, or
1.0 percent of total operating revenues, was achieved primarily through prudent management of
operating expenses, as well as careful stewardship of the University’s financial resources.

Revenues from tuition and fees, net of
scholarships and fellowships, increased
1.1 percent in fiscal 2016, reflecting
modest increases in tuition and fees offset
by proportionate growth in financial
aid. Princeton’s steadfast commitment to
financial aid and affordability has held net
tuition growth to 2 percent annually on
a nominal basis for more than a decade.
Revenues from long-term gifts and pledges
of $171 million were consistent with
Princeton’s long history of successful
fundraising. Annual Giving, which is
vital to the University’s annual operations,
raised $56.0 million, a testament to the
unwavering generosity of many loyal
alumni. Revenues from government
sponsors grew 5.6 percent during the
year, as a result of increased funding from
certain federal agencies.
Total operating expenses of $1.7
billion in fiscal 2016 increased 8.4 percent
primarily due to unfavorable changes
in actuarial assumptions, particularly a
lower discount rate, on the University’s
postretirement benefit obligations. On
a normalized basis, excluding the effect
of the actuarial losses, total operating
expenses increased just 2.9 percent,
reflecting the University’s prudent fiscal
management practices.
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The University successfully pursued
its annual practice of issuing debt for
capital expenditure and property renewal
purposes. Princeton’s bonds and notes
continue to attract high demand as a
safe haven for conservative investors.
In connection with a $147 million taxexempt bond refunding issue and $232
million in new money issues during
the fiscal year in support of the capital
plan, Princeton again received the
highest attainable credit ratings from
both Moody’s Investors Service and
Standard & Poor’s agencies, affirming
the University’s stellar credit standing.
ACC O UN T ING P RINCI P LE S
Princeton University’s financial
statements, which follow herein, are
presented in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles set forth
by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) as supplemented by
the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) audit
and accounting guide for not-for-profit
entities. In addition to general accounting
guidance, the statements reflect the impact
of specific reporting requirements of notfor-profit organizations prescribed by
FASB Accounting Standards Codification

Table 1
Ass e ts a n d l i a b i l i t i e s
27,878
4,542

2012

2013

2014

2015
Assets

27,380
4,673

25,796
4,288

$ in Millions

22,754
4,011

F INANCIAL RE P O R T S
The principal objectives of the accounting
standards are to provide consistency among
the financial statements of not-for-profit
organizations and to make them more
comparable to those of the for-profit sector.
The standards require not-for-profit
organizations to provide, for their external
financial reports, a statement of financial
position, a statement of activities, and a
statement of cash flows. The organization’s
resources are classified among three
categories of net assets, that is, gross assets
less liabilities, based solely on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Amounts for each of the three classes
of net assets—permanently restricted,
temporarily restricted, and unrestricted—
are displayed in a statement of financial
position, and the changes in each category
are displayed in a statement of activities.
Permanently restricted net assets are
those resources that may not be spent,
mainly true Endowment funds. They are
generally the result of gifts and bequests
with donor stipulations that they be
invested to provide a permanent source
of income. They may also include giftsin-kind, such as works of art or real
property. Temporarily restricted net

assets include those that, again by donor
stipulation, must be invested only for a
certain period of time or that may be used
in a future period for a specified purpose.
Temporarily restricted net assets also
include the accumulated income and gains
on permanently restricted funds, absent
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary,
until appropriated for expenditure.
Unrestricted net assets may be expended
for any purpose and result from gifts,
other institutional resources, and income
and gains on those funds.

21,232
3,828

(ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entities, on
the topics of accounting for contributions
and the format of external financial
statements. Compliance with AICPA
guidance includes consolidating wholly
owned subsidiaries and significant trusts
in which the University is a beneficiary,
as well as reporting tuition discounts,
primarily fellowships and scholarships,
as reductions of tuition and fee revenue.
The financial statements are fully
comparable, including prior-year data on
the consolidated statements of activities.

2016
Liabilities

Table 2
M a n a g e d a n d Ot h e r I n v e stm e n ts
$ in Millions

2016
2015
2014
2013
2012

22,485
23,158
21,452
18,656
17,292

Statement of Financial Position
The statement of financial position is a
snapshot of the University’s resources
and obligations at the close of the fiscal
year and is comparable to the document
commonly referred to as the balance
sheet. Assets on the statement, which
totaled $27.4 billion as of June 30, 2016
(see Table 1), are presented in decreasing
order of liquidity, from cash to property,
the least liquid asset.
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Financial Statement Overview
(Continued)

As of June 30, 2016, managed and
other investments totaling $22.5 billion
accounted for 82 percent of total assets,
and decreased 2.9 percent from the prior
year primarily due to managed investment
returns of 0.8 percent less spending
appropriations of 4.1 percent (see
Table 2). Property (net of accumulated
depreciation) totaling $4.0 billion
accounted for an additional 14 percent
of total assets. Other significant assets
were contributions receivable, which
totaled $178 million, and educational and
mortgage loans receivable, which totaled
$395 million.
Liabilities, which totaled $4.7
billion as of June 30, 2016 (see Table 1),
are presented in order of anticipated
time of liquidation. Indebtedness to
third parties totaling $3.5 billion, which
primarily includes loans to finance the
construction, renovation, and maintenance
of University facilities and bonds issued
for working capital and general corporate
purposes, accounted for 75 percent of
total liabilities as of June 30, 2016. Also
included are the liabilities under unitrust
agreements totaling $91 million, which
represent the estimated amounts payable
to donors under the University’s planned
giving programs. The accounting rules
require donees to record a liability for
the present value of the expected lifetime
payments to donors, and to recognize the
net amount received as a contribution in
the year of receipt.
Net assets, which totaled $22.7
billion as of June 30, 2016, are calculated
as total assets less total liabilities, and
are classified into three categories—
unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and
permanently restricted, as discussed
above (see Table 3). Unrestricted net
assets, which totaled $9.7 billion as of
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Table 3
NE T A S S E T S
$ in Millions

2016
2015
2014
2013
2012

9,693
9,929
8,354
7,261
6,694
Unrestricted

11,063 1,951
11,535 1,872
11,335 1,819
9,716 1,766
8,987 1,723

Temporarily Restricted

Permanently Restricted

June 30, 2016, include gifts and other
institutional resources that are not subject
to explicit donor-imposed restrictions.
In accordance with the accounting rules,
certain unrestricted net assets have
been partially earmarked, or designated,
according to their intended use by the
University. Temporarily restricted net
assets, which totaled $11.1 billion, include
promises to give that are receivable in
future years as well as donor-restricted
contributions whose purpose has not
yet been fulfilled. The most significant
portion of temporarily restricted net
assets represents the accumulated income
and gains on true Endowment assets
that have been reinvested. Permanently
restricted net assets, which total $2.0
billion, include Endowment gifts that
cannot be spent and funds held in
perpetual trust by others.
Statement of Activities
The statement of activities is a summary
of the income and expenses for the year,
classified according to the existence or
absence of the restrictions described above.
Sources such as tuition, sponsored research,
and auxiliary activities are normally shown
as unrestricted income, whereas income
from certain gifts or sponsored agreements
may be includible in any of the three classes
of income, depending upon the donor’s
specifications. Gifts to Endowment, for

Figure 1
O P E R AT I N G R E V E N U E S

Figure 2
O P E R AT I N G E X P E N S E S

Fiscal Year 2016

Fiscal Year 2016
Interest

Net Tuition and Fees
9%

7%
17%

55%
Support from
Investments

6%
5%

Government Grants
and Contracts
Private Gifts, Grants,
and Contracts

Auxiliary Sales
and Services
Other Sources

10%

example, are permanently restricted.
Income from temporarily restricted sources
is reclassified to unrestricted income when
the circumstances of the restriction have
been fulfilled. All expenditures are made
from unrestricted net assets, since funds
cannot be spent until all restrictions on
their use have been removed.
The statement of activities is
presented in two sections, operating and
nonoperating, which reflect the principles
of the University’s operating budget.
Items of income reported in the operating
section, which totaled $1.688 billion for
the year ended June 30, 2016, include
all unrestricted receipts as well as the
Endowment earnings made available for
spending under the spending rule. The
major components of operating revenues
and their relative proportions are shown
in Figure 1.
Virtually all expenses, which totaled
$1.671 billion, are considered to be
associated with operating activity. The
major components of operating expenses
and their relative proportions are shown
in Figure 2.
For the year ended June 30, 2016,
the University produced a surplus from

46%

Auxiliary Activities
5%
7%

Academic
Departments
and
Programs

4%
10%
5%

7%
Academic
Support

Plasma Physics
Laboratory

7%

Other Student Aid
General
Administration and
Institutional Support

Library

Student
Services

operating activities in the amount of
$17 million, calculated as total operating
revenues less total operating expenses,
as illustrated in Table 4.
Major items of income that are
considered nonoperating, which amounted
to a net loss of $0.6 billion for the year
ended June 30, 2016, include unrealized
appreciation on investments and
Endowment income earned in the current
year to be used in the current and succeeding
years, in accordance with operating budget
policy. The distribution of investment
income for spending under the University’s
spending policy is shown as a transfer
from nonoperating activities to operating
revenue. Unrestricted gift income,
primarily from Annual Giving, is shown
as operating income, whereas income from
promises to give (pledges) is considered a
nonoperating source of income.
The statement of activities concludes
with a reconciliation of the change in
each class of net assets for the year to
the balance of net assets shown on the
statement of financial position. The total
change in net assets for the year ended
June 30, 2016, for all classes of net assets
was a decrease of $0.6 billion.
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Financial Statement Overview
(Continued)

Table 4
O P ERAT ING AC T IVI T IE S

1,479
1,359

1,566
1,495

1,621
1,541

2012

2013

2014

2015
Revenues

1,688
1,671

1,399
1,317

$ in Millions

2016
Expenses

Statement of Cash Flows
The statement of cash flows is intended
to be the bridge from the change in net
assets for the year to the change in the
cash balance from one year-end to the
next. Several items shown as expenses
in the statement of activities, such as
depreciation, do not require an outlay
of cash, whereas the purchase of capital
assets, which does require the expenditure
of cash, is added directly to assets on
the statement of financial position and
is reflected on the statement of activities
only as depreciation expense. Other items
that affect cash balances but are not
required to be included in the statement
of activities include the purchase and sale
of investment securities, proceeds from
borrowing and the repayment of loan
principal, and the net change in accounts
receivable and payable.
The reconciling items on the
statement of cash flows are grouped into
three categories. Operating activities,
which used $485 million in net cash for
the year ended June 30, 2016, are those
items of income and expense that occur
during the normal course of providing
services as an educational institution.
Cash flows from operating activities also
include investment earnings distributions
of interest and dividends. Investing
activities, which provided $216 million
in net cash, include the acquisition and
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disposal of capital assets such as buildings
and equipment, and the purchase and sale
of investments. Financing activities, which
provided $266 million in net cash, include
the proceeds from long-term borrowing
to finance capital additions, renewal,
and replacement, and the repayment of
principal on such indebtedness, as well
as the disbursement of funds for new
educational and mortgage loans and the
collection of principal payments on such
loans. Also included are contributions
restricted for long-term purposes such as
endowments.
C O N T RIBU T I O N S
In accordance with FASB ASC 958310, Not-for-Profit Entities—Receivables,
donors’ unconditional promises to give
are required to be recorded by donees
as revenue and as amounts receivable
in the year received. Where collection
is not expected within one year, the
amount recorded is determined on a
present-value basis. Conditional promises
to give are recognized when they
become unconditional, that is, when the
conditions imposed by the donor have
been substantially met.
Contributions must be classified
among those that are permanently
restricted, temporarily restricted, or
unrestricted, as dictated solely by the
donor. For the year ended June 30, 2016,
contributions classified as permanently
restricted totaled $84 million, those
classified as temporarily restricted totaled
$24 million, and those classified as
unrestricted totaled $157 million. The
classification of contributions is essential
for the proper presentation of revenue
in the statement of activities and of
net assets in the statement of financial
position, previously discussed.

END O W M EN T M ANAGE M EN T
A significant portion of the operating
budget is financed from Endowment
earnings. Consequently, the University’s
investment portfolio is managed for a
total return and accounted for under a
consistently applied formula.
Most invested funds participate in
the Primary Pool, which is operated on a
market-value basis. Long-term growth of
principal and increased future earnings
are the University’s investment objectives
for these funds. Funds participating in
the Primary Pool are assigned units on
a market-value basis and appreciate or
depreciate based on the change in unit
market value. After deducting investment
management fees, the earnings are
allocated quarterly on the basis of units
owned by participating funds.
The University follows an
Endowment spending rule that provides
for an annual increase in the amount
of Primary Pool earnings allocated for
spending, provided that the resulting
spending rate, expressed as a percentage
of the market value, remains within a
policy band as further discussed in the
Report on Investments, which follows.
For the Primary Pool’s year ended June
30, 2016, the interest and dividends per
unit (net of service charges) were $75.72.
The unit earnings allocated for spending
were $449.17 in fiscal year 2016 and
$427.78 in fiscal year 2015. The market
value of a unit was $10,521.24 at June
30, 2016, and $10,902.38 at June 30,
2015.
The Balanced Fund, Income Fund,
and Tiger Fund have been established for
funds subject to the donor’s reservation
of life income. The fiscal year-end for
each pool is December 31. These pools
are operated on a market-value basis in

a manner similar to the operation of the
Primary Pool. Earnings are distributed
quarterly to the beneficiaries. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, the earnings
distribution from the Balanced Fund
was $89.89 per unit, and the average
market value of a unit was $2,901.76; the
earnings distribution from the Income
Fund was $4.41 per unit, and the average
market value of a unit was $138.20; the
earnings distribution from the Tiger Fund
was $30.54 per unit, and the average
market value of a unit was $997.67.
The University also maintains
a group of separately invested funds.
Included therein are funds established
from gifts of investments restricted from
sale by donors, funds held in trust by
others, and the University’s investments
in strategic real estate.
C O NCLU S I O N
Princeton hopes that the readers of these
financial statements find the presentations
and explanations helpful in interpreting
the financial state of the University.
Princeton is blessed with significant
financial resources, which it is responsible
for protecting and preserving over a very
long time horizon. This long-term view
allows Princeton to weather any near-term
financial challenge, such as the global
recession experienced not too long ago.
The University is committed to utilizing
its financial resources in a thoughtful,
prudent, and consistent manner in
support of its current educational and
research programs, while preserving their
value for future generations.

Kenneth Molinaro
Controller
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A

s of June 30, 2016, Princeton’s Endowment stood at $22.2 billion, a decrease of
approximately $570 million from last year.1 The decline in the value of the Endowment
reflects that spending outflows used in support of the University’s operations exceeded
investment gains, gifts, and other inflows during the year.
The vast majority of the Endowment, $21.7 billion, is actively managed by the Princeton
University Investment Company (“Princo”).2 While Princo maintains its own Board of Directors (the
“Directors”), it is a University office operating under the final authority of the University’s Board of
Trustees (the “Trustees”).
The purpose of the Endowment is to provide steady support for the University’s current and
future operating needs, while preserving real value for future generations. This mission requires
an expected long-term return that exceeds the sum of the annual rate of spending and University
inflation. To pursue this goal, Princo maintains an equity-biased portfolio and seeks to partner
with best-in-class investment management firms across diverse asset categories.
Against a backdrop of challenging market conditions, the portion of the Endowment actively
managed by Princo generated a 0.8 percent investment return during fiscal 2016. While a
disappointing return in absolute terms—and one that falls below long-term return expectations—
it represents a reasonable relative result given the market environment.
Of course, the evaluation of our investment program should focus on the long term, and our
long-term results remain strong in both absolute and relative terms. The Endowment’s annualized
return over the past ten years was 8.2 percent, equating to a Higher Education Price Index-adjusted
real return of 5.7 percent, which is above the amount needed to preserve purchasing power after
spending. The 8.2 percent annualized nominal gain, as discussed further below, also compares
favorably to all performance yardsticks.

1

Excluded from Princeton’s traditional
definition of “Endowment” are working
capital, planned giving investments, and
proceeds from debt.

2

The pool actively managed by
Princo excludes University mortgages,
loans, and other assets held primarily
for strategic University purposes.
“Endowment net assets” as reported in
the notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in the amount of $21.6
billion as of June 30, 2016, further
exclude agency funds in custody for
others.
3
Excluded from these decisions are
funds devoted to certain strategic
purposes, such as subsidizing faculty
and staff housing.
4
Investment earnings distributed in
fiscal year 2016 in the amount of $934
million in the Statement of Activities is
comprised of Endowment spending of
$926 million, plus earnings from funds
held in trust by others, working capital,
planned giving investments, and other
non-endowment investments.
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Spending
Each year the Trustees decide upon an
amount to be spent from the Endowment
for the following fiscal year.3 In their
deliberations, the Trustees use a spending
framework that is designed to enable sizable
amounts to be spent in a reasonably stable
fashion, while allowing for reinvestment
sufficient to preserve purchasing power in
perpetuity. For much of the last decade,
the framework targeted annual spending
between 4.00 and 5.75 percent. In 2015,
the Trustees decided that based upon
the continued strength of Princeton’s
investment program, higher long-term
average spending rates could be supported,
and indeed, that a higher average rate of
spending was needed in order to achieve
intergenerational equity, i.e. having
endowment spending patterns that

balanced the interests of current and
future students and faculty. Moreover,
a higher average spending rate would
likely help optimize the mix of the
University’s three important types of
capital—financial, physical, and human.
The Trustees agreed that an important
step toward the goal of higher long-term
average spending was to raise the upper
boundary of the spending target range
to 6.25 percent. Notably, this marked the
second time that the Trustees had raised
the upper boundary of the spending range
in the last decade, having previously
moved the boundary from 5.00 to 5.75
percent in 2006.
In Fiscal Year 2016, the Endowment
spending distribution, in aggregate,
equaled $926 million.4 Spending per
Endowment unit equated to 4.1 percent

of market value at the start of fiscal 2016.
(Of note, the Trustees approved a substantial
boost in Endowment spending for Fiscal
Year 2017. Per-unit spending in the coming
year is projected to be 5.0 percent.)
Ass e t A l l o c a t i o n
Asset allocation involves deciding what
share of the portfolio should be placed in
the various broad asset categories. The
decisions attempt to balance the relative
merits of equities versus fixed income,
domestic versus foreign investments, and
publicly traded versus nonmarketable assets.
Princeton’s long-term asset allocation
decisions are embodied in a Policy Portfolio
that describes the asset categories in which
Princeton will invest, a set of target weights
that indicate how the portfolio will be
positioned in “normal” market conditions,
and a range of weightings within which
exposures can be adjusted in response
to mid-term opportunities arising from
significant market disequilibria or to other
unusual circumstances. Figure 1 depicts
the Policy Portfolio targets.
Readily manifest is Princo’s bias
toward equities or equity-like assets—95
percent of the portfolio is allocated toward
these investments. Also striking is the
relatively small portion, 10 percent, of the
portfolio dedicated directly to the Domestic
Equity asset category. Large portions of
the portfolio are allocated to other high
expected-return categories. Independent
Return, Private Equity, and Real Assets
bear further description. Independent
Return is broadly defined as consisting of
investment vehicles that seek high absolute
returns that are typically independent of
broad market trends. Private Equity and
Real Assets include investments in private
companies, venture capital opportunities,
real estate, and natural resources. These

Figure 1
P R I N C E TO N U N I V E R S I T Y P O L I C Y P O R T F O L I O
Fiscal Year 2017
Real Assets
19%

25%
Independent
Return

5%
10%

Private Equity
25%

Fixed Income and Cash

Domestic Equity

6%
10%

International Equity—Developed
International Equity—Emerging

areas can offer attractive opportunities for
skilled, patient investors.
The Policy Portfolio is diversified
among asset categories for a number of
reasons. Most importantly, Princo seeks
return premia, in both risk-adjusted
and absolute terms. In each equity asset
category, Princeton has competitive
advantages that create superior return
potential. A broader opportunity set
means that the portfolio may be capable
of producing high returns more often
and in a greater variety of environments.
The multi-asset class approach also offers
diversification benefits that help to control
risk in most environments.
Princo’s Directors, working closely
with Princo Staff, review the Policy
Portfolio periodically. In the most recent
review, in October 2015, Princo reduced
the policy target for Real Assets to 19
percent from 21 percent. This was offset
by increasing the Domestic Equity policy
target to 10 percent from 9 percent, and
increasing the Independent Return target
to 25 percent from 24 percent.
The decision to reduce the Real
Assets target is aimed at modestly

17

Report on Investments
P r i ncet o n U n i v e r s i t y In v est m ent C o m pan y

(Continued)

Table 1
P RINCE TO N UNIVER S I T Y END O W M EN T P O LICY P O R T F O LI O TARGE T S *
Every Five Years Since 1997

Asset Class
Domestic Equity
International Equity:
Developed Markets
Emerging Markets
Independent Return
Private Equity
Real Assets
Total Equity
Fixed Income and Cash
Total 		

1997
20.0 %

2002
18.0 %

2007
12.0 %

2012
6.5 %

2017
10.0 %

7.5 %
7.5 %
25.0 %
15.0 %
10.0 %

7.5 %
7.5 %
25.0 %
15.0 %
12.0 %

8.5 %
8.5 %
25.0 %
19.0 %
20.0 %

5.5 %
11.0 %
25.0 %
23.0 %
23.0 %

6.0 %
10.0 %
25.0 %
25.0 %
19.0 %

85.0 %

85.0 %

93.0 %

94.0 %

95.0 %

15.0 %

15.0 %

7.0 %

6.0 %

5.0 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

*Policy targets are pro forma based on current asset class definitions.

enhancing the Endowment’s liquidity.
To offset the decrease, we chose to increase
the Independent Return target as we like
the “all weather” characteristics of the asset
category—it can generate strong returns
both in periods when traditional strategies
perform well, and when they do not. The
recommendation to increase the Domestic
Equity target is driven by bottom-up,
manager-specific considerations, as well
as the desire to create room to have more
liquid equity exposure.
Table 1 gives a historical perspective,
showing how the Policy Portfolio has
evolved over two decades. Clearly evident
is the long-standing practice of aggressive
positioning. While non-traditional
investments have grown as a share of the
portfolio, this growth represents deliberatepaced expansion reflecting extensive
consideration over multiple years.
Diversification into international
investments is an important part of
our multi-asset class approach. Princo
believes such investments have the
potential to increase long-term expected
returns while helping to manage portfolio
risk. Relative to the U.S., international
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markets tend to be less efficient, providing
meaningful opportunities to add value
through active management.
An important part of Princo’s
approach to international investments is
an emphasis on “foreign local” managers
based outside the U.S. Over time we
have gained more exposure to such
managers in both marketable and nonmarketable categories. Indeed, we have
formally articulated efforts in this regard
as our “Grand Unifying Theme.” This
theme, while very important, is not
fully visible in the Policy Portfolio, as
it cuts across several asset categories.
On June 30, 2016, about 34 percent
of the Endowment (including uncalled
commitments) was controlled by managers
based outside the U.S.
Table 2 compares Princo’s long-term
Policy Portfolio asset allocation targets with
the actual weights as of June 30, 2016.
Within relatively small and predetermined
ranges, Princo’s Staff and Directors will
intentionally overweight or underweight
more or less compelling asset categories.
These deliberate allocation overlays occur
most frequently in the marketable asset

categories. Within Private Equity and
Real Assets, deviations from Policy
Portfolio targets can occur without
deliberate intent, due to funding and
market dynamics. When the Policy
Portfolio targets for Private Equity
and Real Assets were established, and
when they are reviewed, it was with the
understanding that allocation deviations in
these categories are neither easily, nor
cheaply, controlled with great precision,
and therefore will often need to be offset by
allocation adjustments in other categories.
That said, the large overweight
in Private Equity is unintentional
and deserves further comment. With
hindsight, we recognize that our
commitments to Private Equity funds
during fiscal years 2006 through 2008
were too high. Since that time, we
have reduced our commitment pace
to a sustainable steady-state rate, and
are in the process of gliding gradually
over multiple years back to the target
allocation. Indeed, exposure to the
category has declined from 38.2 percent
at the end of fiscal 2011 to 33.4 percent
at the end of fiscal 2016, despite the
category’s very strong performance.
(Private Equity has generated a 13.3
percent annualized return over the past
five years relative to a 7.8 percent return
Table 2
Ass e t A l l o c at i o n
June 30, 2016

		
Allocation
Domestic Equity
International Equity
Developed Markets
Emerging Markets
Independent Return
Private Equity
Real Assets
Fixed Income and Cash

FY 2017
Policy Target	Actual
10.0 %
7.5 %
6.0 %
10.0 %
25.0 %
25.0 %
19.0 %
5.0 %

5.7 %
8.5 %
24.6 %
33.4 %
16.7 %
3.7 %

Figure 2
F I S CAL YEAR 2 0 1 6 P ER F O R M ANCE
Princeton
Policy Portfolio
-0.5 %
65/35 Benchmark
Cambridge Associates Median -2.9 %

0.8 %
5.0 %

for the Endowment excluding Private
Equity.) It will, however, take time for
exposure to decline to the 25 percent
policy target level.
Within Fixed Income and Cash we
hold shorter-than-market duration bonds
due to a combination of exceptionally
low yields that U.S. government
bonds offer, increased price risk, and
decreased “insurance” functionality.5 The
underweight in this asset category at the
end of fiscal 2016 was transitory, and
funds received after year-end resulted in
exposure increasing to the 5.0 percent
policy target level.
P e r fo r m a n c e
Against the backdrop of difficult, volatile
markets, the Endowment generated
a fiscal 2016 investment return of 0.8
percent, falling short of our long-term
return expectations (see Figure 2).6
Based upon preliminary estimates of
Higher Education Price Index (HEPI),
our fiscal 2016 performance translated into
a real loss of approximately 1.0 percent.
Princo has traditionally used
two benchmarks to provide context
for our results. We outperformed our
primary benchmark, the Policy Portfolio
Index, by 1.3 percent.7 However,
we underperformed our secondary
benchmark—a 65/35 blend of the S&P
500 and the Barclays Government/
Credit Bond Index—by 4.2 percent.8
The 65/35’s dominance illustrates that
diversification away from U.S. large-cap

5
A key reason for holding high
quality fixed income is that it provides
“insurance” against deflation and
extended equity market declines. In
particular, we expect yields to decline
and bond prices to rise in many crisis
scenarios. However, given current low
yields, there is less room for further
declines, reducing the insurance
functionality.
6
Reported results exclude the returns
on certain short-term assets and
other assets, such as faculty and staff
mortgages, held primarily for strategic
University purposes. The total asset base
upon which performance is calculated
equaled $21.7 billion at fiscal year-end.
7
Policy Portfolio Index returns represent
a weighted average of individual asset
class benchmark returns.
8
The 65% S&P 500/35% Barclays
Government/Credit Index portfolio
represents what an investor would earn
from a 65/35 investment in these
equity and fixed income market indices,
rebalanced annually. Since its inception
in 1987, Princo has used this benchmark
to represent the returns that might have
been earned by institutional investors
pursuing more traditional investment
approaches.
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Figure 3
P r i n c e to n A S S E T CLA S S RE T URN S
V S . BENCH M AR K S
Fiscal Year 2016

-8.4 %

Domestic Equity
International Equity—Developed
International Equity—Emerging
Independent Return
Private Equity
Real Assets
Fixed Income and Cash

-12.2 %

-9.0 %
-7.3 %

-3.2 %

-1.9 %

1.6 %

1.4 %
2.6 %
3.1 %
2.8 %
0.4 %

5.5 %

6.0 %

Princeton

Benchmark

Benchmarks used:
Domestic Equity: Wilshire 5000 Index;
International Equity—Developed: MSCI World ex-U.S. IMI;
International Equity—Emerging: MSCI Emerging Markets IMI;
Independent Return: HFRI Fund Weighted Composite Index + 50 basis points
per annum;
Private Equity: Customized Cambridge Associates benchmark;
Real Assets: Blend of Cambridge Associates Real Estate benchmark, a timber
component, and an energy component;
Fixed Income & Cash: Barclays Government Bond Index.

9
The median college and university
endowment returns represent data
compiled by Cambridge Associates
for over 150 college and university
endowments.
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stocks and bonds created a significant drag
on performance this year. Notably, the
Endowment’s return compares favorably
with performance results from other college
and university endowments; the median
institution in this group lost 2.9 percent.9
Absolute performance varied across
asset classes, although relative performance
was mostly strong (see Figure 3). Modestly
positive results in Private Equity, Real
Assets and Independent Return were
largely offset by losses in Domestic Equity,
International Developed Equity and
Emerging Markets. More specifically,
Private Equity was up 5.5 percent and
Real Assets up 3.1 percent, both outpacing
their respective benchmarks. Similar to
fiscal 2015, Real Assets results were driven
by strong real estate performance, partially
offset by losses in natural resources.
Independent Return also outpaced its

benchmark, but produced only a 1.4 percent
return. In Domestic Equity, a structural
overweight to the biotechnology industry
created a significant headwind in fiscal
2016. Domestic Equity lost 8.4 percent,
while the benchmark gained 1.6 percent.
The damage of the structural biotech
overweight would have been much worse
absent savvy stock picking by our specialist
manager, and a hedge we implemented
directly against part of our exposure.
Notably, our structural overweight to the
biotech sector has been the primary driver
of our substantial outperformance in
Domestic Equity in fiscal 2015 and over the
long term. Our International Developed
Equity and Emerging Market programs
both lost value, but outperformed their
respective benchmarks. The Fixed Income
and Cash category eked out a 0.4 percent
gain, and lagged the market, reflecting a
low-yield environment and our continuing
shorter-than-market duration posture.
Generally speaking, the evaluation
of our investment program should focus
on the long term, and our long-term
results are strong in both absolute and
relative terms (see Figure 4). For the
10-year period, Princeton’s portfolio
earned an annualized 8.2 percent,
which represents a good result within
the context of a decade that included
the global financial crisis, as well as
lower-than average inflation over the
period. (For context, the HEPI—a
measure of University inflation—
averaged 2.3 percent over this period
versus 3.9 percent over the previous
decade.) The portfolio’s gain compares
favorably against the 7.1 percent return
for the Policy Portfolio Index and the
7.0 percent return of the passive 65/35
benchmark. The managed investment
portfolio also did very well relative to the

Figure 4
1 0 - y e a r a n n ua l i z e d p e r fo r m a n c e

Table 3
A n n ua l i z e d 1 0 - y e a r r e t u r n s

Ending June 30, 2016

Princeton
Policy Portfolio
65/35 Benchmark
Cambridge Associates Median

8.2 %
7.1 %
7.0 %
5.1 %

5.1 percent return for the median college
and university endowment. Over the past
ten years, Princeton’s excess performance
relative to the Policy Portfolio, 65/35
benchmark, and median college and
university has added approximately
$2 billion, $3 billion, and $6 billion,
respectively, to the Endowment.
Examining performance over rolling
ten-year periods enables additional longterm perspective. Table 3 compares
Princo’s investment performance over
rolling-ten-year periods versus that of the
65/35 benchmark. Over rolling decade-long
periods, the Endowment has consistently
outperformed the more conventional,
more liquid 65/35 benchmark.

Fiscal Years
1998-2007
1999-2008
2000-2009
2001-2010
2002-2011
2003-2012
2004-2013
2005-2014
2006-2015
2007-2016

Princo
16.2 %
14.9 %
9.7 %
7.9 %
9.8 %
9.9 %
10.2 %
10.5 %
10.1 %
8.2 %

65/35	Difference
7.1%
9.1%
4.2%
10.7%
1.0%
8.7%
1.6%
6.3%
4.2%
5.6%
5.9%
4.0%
6.7%
3.5%
7.2%
3.3%
7.0%
3.1%
7.0%
1.2%

Over the past ten years, Princeton
outperformed within asset categories by
an average annualized margin of 1.9
percent, with five of seven asset categories
outperforming their respective benchmarks
(see Figure 5). Particularly notable is the
fact that even over this relatively lengthy
period, the easily benchmarked equity
categories (Domestic Equity, International
Developed Equity, and Emerging Markets)
have registered remarkable outperformance.10
In aggregate, these categories gained

10

We describe these categories as
“easily benchmarked” because for
each there exists an easily investable
index alternative that closely parallels
our investment approach. No such
alternatives exist for the other equity
asset categories.
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Figure 5
P r i n c e to n A S S ET C L A S S RET U RN S
V S . B ENC H M A R K S
Ten Years Ending June 30, 2016

Domestic Equity
International Equity—Developed
International Equity—Emerging

2.1 %
3.7 %

Independent Return

7.5 %
8.0 %

10.6 %

7.6 %
6.1 %

Private Equity
Real Assets
Fixed Income and Cash

2.9 %
2.6 %
4.7 %

11.6 %

12.1 %
10.9 %

7.3 %

Princeton

Benchmark

Benchmarks used:
Domestic Equity: Wilshire 5000 Index;
International Equity—Developed: MSCI World ex-U.S. Index prior to 6/30/10;
MSCI World ex-US IMI thereafter;
International Equity—Emerging: MSCI Emerging Markets Index prior to
6/30/10; MSCI Emerging Markets IMI thereafter;
Independent Return: (40% Wilshire 5000 + 60% 91-day T-Bill) + 550 bps
annualized until 6/30/10; 40% MSCI All Country World Index + 60%*(91-day
T-Bill + 650 bps annualized) through 6/30/12; thereafter, HFRI Fund Weighted
Composite Index + 50 basis points per annum;
Private Equity: Customized Cambridge Associates benchmark;
Real Assets: Blend of levered NCREIF Property Index, a timber component, and
an energy component. Levered NCREIF Property Index change to Cambridge
Associates Real Estate benchmark at 6/30/2010;
Fixed Income & Cash: Barclays Government Bond Index.

almost 10.4 percent annualized over the
past 10 years, surpassing a policy-weighted
benchmark by nearly 6 percent annualized.
Independent Return’s long-term performance has been strong and consistent,
with meaningful outperformance over the
period. Private Equity generated strong
returns over ten years and outperformed.
Performance of Real Assets has been
disappointing. Real Estate, which was
particularly impacted by the global financial
crisis, posted meager gains over the full
period. The sharp decline in commodity
prices over the last two years also weighed
on natural resource returns. Of note, the
comparison to the benchmark is made less
meaningful by the fact that Real Assets
is an inherently difficult asset class to
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benchmark. Indeed, we have often had
to select the “least bad” benchmark.
As a result, a substantial amount of the
long-term underperformance relates
to structural differences between the
composition of our real estate and energy
programs and those of their benchmarks.
Fixed Income and Cash results were
slightly below expectations in absolute
terms, while also trailing the benchmark.
The underperformance is due to holding
shorter-than-market duration bonds
in recent years, as well as the episodic
presence of significant cash balances,
held transitionally during periods of
portfolio-wide rebalancing.
Clearly we have had more rewarding
years than fiscal 2016. But this year’s
results do not imply a lack of effort.
Particularly in the face of disappointment,
the hardest thing to do sometimes is to
show restraint, to not change for the sake
of change, to not act for the sake of acting.
We remain confident in our approach.
We close this year’s report with the
closing quote from our report last year,
a year in which many stars aligned:
“We had a very strong year, but we won’t
always be this lucky. When times do get
tougher—which may be happening as we
write—we will say to ourselves what we
are privately saying now: ‘This, too, shall
pass.’ And we will say to others what we are
writing now: ‘Please help us focus on the
long term.’”
Thank you for your support.

Andrew Golden
President, Princeton University
Investment Company

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Trustees of Princeton University:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Princeton University (the “University”),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 and the related
consolidated statements of activities and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the University’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Princeton University at June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in their net assets and their
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

November 21, 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, PricewaterhouseCoopers Center, 300 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10017
T: (646) 471 3000, F: (813) 286 6000, www.pwc.com/us
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2016 and 2015

(dollars in thousands)			2016

Assets
Cash				
Accounts receivable			
Receivables associated with investments			
Educational and mortgage loans receivable			
Contributions receivable			
Inventories and deferred charges			
Managed investments at market value			
Funds held in trust by others			
Other investments			
Property, net of accumulated depreciation			
Total assets			

$

8,003
103,015
103,974
395,178
178,280
9,442
21,807,342
144,452
678,327
3,952,390

2015
$

11,544
98,816
126,671
378,230
186,430
10,451
22,472,966
154,163
685,436
3,753,676

$ 27,380,403

$ 27,878,383

$

103,036
207,828
125,797
121,667
39,099
90,998
5,574
3,495,552
483,410

$    116,608
308,367
125,025
158,716
39,520
101,657
8,454
3,301,413
382,648

Total liabilities			

$ 4,672,961

$ 4,542,408

Net assets
Unrestricted			
Temporarily restricted			
Permanently restricted			

$ 9,693,143
11,062,850
1,951,449

$ 9,928,976
11,535,371
1,871,628

Total net assets			

$ 22,707,442

$ 23,335,975

Total liabilities and net assets			

$ 27,380,403

$ 27,878,383

Liabilities
Accounts payable			
Liabilities associated with investments			
Deposits, advance receipts, and accrued liabilities			
Deposits held in custody for others			
Deferred revenues			
Liability under planned giving agreements			
Federal loan programs			
Indebtedness to third parties			
Accrued postretirement benefits			

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Activities
Year ended June 30, 2016

				
(dollars in thousands)
Unrestricted
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees
Less scholarships and fellowships
Net tuition and fees
Government grants and contracts
Private gifts, grants, and contracts
Auxiliary sales and services
Other sources
Investment earnings distributed
Operating revenues
Net assets released from restrictions
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Educational and general:
Academic departments and programs
Academic support
Student services
Library
General administration and institutional support
Other student aid
Plasma Physics Laboratory
Total educational and general
Auxiliary activities
Interest on indebtedness
Total operating expenses
Results of operations
Nonoperating activities
Adjustments to planned giving agreements
Decrease in value of assets held in trust by others
Private gifts, noncurrent
Net realized and unrealized appreciation on investments
Distribution of investment earnings
Reclassifications, transfers, and other nonoperating
Increase (decrease) from nonoperating activities
Increase (decrease) in net assets
Net assets at the beginning of the year
Net assets at the end of the year

Temporarily
Restricted

Permanently
Restricted

337,396
(226,235)
111,161

-

-

290,238
92,719
90,359
169,645
413,874

519,760

-

290,238
92,719
90,359
169,645
933,634

1,167,996
575,263

519,760
(575,263)

-

1,687,756
-

1,743,259

(55,503)

-

1,687,756

768,283
116,811
121,041
83,632
166,422
61,017
125,610

-

-

768,283
116,811
121,041
83,632
166,422
61,017
125,610

1,442,816
84,638
143,286

-

-

1,442,816
84,638
143,286

1,670,740

-

-

1,670,740

72,519

(55,503)

-

17,016

(1,038)
63,886
47,818
(413,874)
(5,144)

(3,098)
(312)
23,655
89,428
(519,760)
(6,931)

(9,398)
83,791
887
4,541

(4,136)
(9,710)
171,332
138,133
(933,634)
(7,534)

(308,352)

(417,018)

79,821

(645,549)

(235,833)
9,928,976

(472,521)
11,535,371

79,821
1,871,628

(628,533)
23,335,975

$ 9,693,143

$ 11,062,850

$ 1,951,449

$ 22,707,442

$

$

$

2016 Total
$

337,396
(226,235)
111,161

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Activities
Year ended June 30, 2015

				
(dollars in thousands)
Unrestricted

Temporarily
Restricted

Permanently
Restricted

325,271
(215,298)
109,973

-

-

274,973
88,023
86,599
180,368
271,793

609,346

-

274,973
88,023
86,599
180,368
881,139

1,011,729
613,214

609,346
(613,214)

-

1,621,075
-

1,624,943

(3,868)

-

1,621,075

677,927
102,014
109,131
88,930
165,147
55,322
119,488

-

-

677,927
102,014
109,131
88,930
165,147
55,322
119,488

1,317,959
79,709
143,952

-

-

1,317,959
79,709
143,952

1,541,620

-

-

1,541,620

83,323

(3,868)

-

79,455

62,763
1,697,880
(271,793)
2,662

(18,549)
(4,686)
13,674
821,251
(609,346)
1,984

(2,179)
65,826
(11,155)

(18,549)
(6,865)
142,263
2,519,131
(881,139)
(6,509)

Increase from nonoperating activities

1,491,512

204,328

52,492

1,748,332

Increase in net assets
Net assets at the beginning of the year

1,574,835
8,354,141

200,460
11,334,911

52,492
1,819,136

1,827,787
21,508,188

$ 9,928,976

$ 11,535,371

$ 1,871,628

$ 23,335,975

Operating revenues
Tuition and fees
Less scholarships and fellowships
Net tuition and fees
Government grants and contracts
Private gifts, grants, and contracts
Auxiliary sales and services
Other sources
Investment earnings distributed
Operating revenues
Net assets released from restrictions
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Educational and general:
Academic departments and programs
Academic support
Student services
Library
General administration and institutional support
Other student aid
Plasma Physics Laboratory
Total educational and general
Auxiliary activities
Interest on indebtedness
Total operating expenses
Results of operations
Nonoperating activities
Adjustments to planned giving agreements
Decrease in value of assets held in trust by others
Private gifts, noncurrent
Net realized and unrealized appreciation on investments
Distribution of investment earnings
Reclassifications, transfers, and other nonoperating

Net assets at the end of the year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

$

2015 Total
$

325,271
(215,298)
109,973

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

(dollars in thousands)			2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets			 $
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation expense			
Amortization of bond issuance costs and premiums			
Property gifts-in-kind			
Adjustments to planned giving agreements			
Net realized and unrealized losses (gains) on investments			
Loss on disposal of fixed assets			
Decrease in value of assets held in trust by others			
Contributions received for long-term investment			
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
		 Receivables			
		 Inventory and deferred charges			
		 Accounts payable			
		 Deposits, advance receipts, and accrued liabilities			
		 Deposits held in custody for others			
		 Deferred revenue			
		 Accrued postretirement benefits			

(628,533)

2015
$

1,827,787

149,653
(5,878)
(1,777)
4,136
17,300
1,260
9,711
(83,791)

138,124
(6,495)
(2,982)
18,554
(2,373,809)
2,229
6,864
(65,826)

(12,997)
1,009
420
772
(37,049)
(421)
100,762

(3,166)
5,838
995
19,893
16,392
(380)
15,394

Net cash used by operating activities			

(485,423)

(400,588)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment 			
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant, and equipment			
Purchases of investments			
Proceeds from maturities/sales of investments 			

(368,296)
6,454
(14,041,165)
14,618,756

(379,077)
5,622
(13,143,769)
13,787,389

Net cash provided by investing activities			

215,749

270,165

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of indebtedness to third parties, net of drawdowns			
Payment of debt principal			
Contributions received for long-term investment			
Transactions on planned giving agreements			
Net additions (reductions) under federal loan programs			

268,485
(68,468)
83,791
(14,795)
(2,880)

336,817
(247,631)
65,826
(19,616)
1,783

Net cash provided by financing activities			

266,133

137,179

Net increase (decrease) in cash			
Cash at the beginning of the year			

(3,541)
11,544

6,756
4,788

Cash at the end of the year			

$

8,003

$

11,544

Supplemental disclosures
Interest paid			

$

152,060

$

147,717

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

1 . Nat u r e of oper at i on s
Princeton University (the “University”) is a private, not-for-profit, nonsectarian institution of
higher learning. When originally chartered in 1746 as the College of New Jersey, it became the
fourth college in British North America. It was renamed Princeton University in 1896. First
located in Elizabeth, and briefly in Newark, the school moved to Princeton in 1756.
The student body numbers approximately 5,277 undergraduates and 2,697 graduate
students in more than 90 departments and programs. The University offers instruction in the
liberal arts and sciences and in professional programs of the School of Architecture, the School of
Engineering and Applied Science, and the Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International
Affairs. The faculty numbers approximately 1,240, including visitors and part-time appointments.

2 . S u m m a r y of s i g n i f i c a nt acc o unti ng p o lic i e s
The consolidated financial statements of Princeton University (now legally known as “The
Trustees of Princeton University”) are prepared on the accrual basis and include the accounts of
its wholly owned subsidiaries, foundation, and investments controlled by the University. Financial
information conforms to the statements of accounting principles of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) and to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Audit
and Accounting Guide for Not-for-Profit Entities. Relevant pronouncements include FASB
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-310, Not-for-Profit Entities—Receivables, and
ASC 958-205, Not-for-Profit Entities—Presentation of Financial Statements.
Unconditional promises to give are recognized as revenues in the year made, not in the year
in which the cash is received. The amounts are discounted based on timing of expected
collections. Amounts received from donors to planned giving programs are shown in part as a
liability for the present value of annuity payments to the donor; the balance is shown as a gift of
either temporarily or permanently restricted net assets.
External financial statements of not-for-profit organizations require the preparation of
a statement of financial position, a statement of activities, and a statement of cash flows. The
classification of the organization’s net assets and its revenues and expenses into three categories
according to the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions—permanently restricted,
temporarily restricted, or unrestricted—is also required. Changes, including reclassification and
transfers, in each category are reflected in the statement of activities, certain of which are further
categorized as nonoperating. Such nonoperating activities primarily reflect transactions of a longterm investment or capital nature, contributions receivable in future periods, contributions subject
to donor-imposed restrictions, gains and losses on investments in excess of the University’s
spending rule, and other nonrecurring activities. Temporarily restricted gift revenue expended in
the same fiscal year is recorded as unrestricted revenue.
Other significant accounting policies are described elsewhere in these notes.
The preparation of the University’s financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated statements of financial position, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense included in the consolidated statements of activities.
Actual results could differ from such estimates.
Certain prior-year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation.
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New Authoritative Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Other Assets and Deferred Costs—Contracts with
Customers (Subtopic 340-40). This ASU implements a single framework for revenue recognition
ensuring that revenue is recognized in a manner that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and services. The ASU is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017. The University is evaluating the impact on its consolidated
financial statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03 (Subtopic 835-30), Imputation of Interest—
Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. This ASU requires all premium received,
discounts given, and costs incurred to issue debt to be presented in the balance sheet as an
adjustment to the carrying value of the associated debt liability. The ASU is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permissible. The University
has adopted ASU 2015-03 and has presented unamortized debt issuance costs as an offset to
indebtedness to third parties within the liabilities section of the balance sheet for fiscal years 2016
and 2015. As a result, $13.0 million has been reclassified from Inventories and deferred charges
to Indebtedness to third parties in the 2015 column on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position. The change in presentation has also been appropriately reflected in the Indebtedness to
third parties table shown in Note 12.
In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820),
Disclosure for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its
Equivalent). The ASU removes the requirement to categorize within the fair value hierarchy all
investments for which fair value is measured using the practical expedient. The ASU further
removes the requirement to make certain disclosures for all investments that are eligible to be
measured at fair value using the practical expedient. This ASU is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The University has adopted
AU 2015-07, and the disclosure change can be seen in the investment leveling tables shown in
Note 4 for fiscal years 2016 and 2015.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic
825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The ASU
allows entities that are not public business entities and do not carry financial instruments at
fair value in the statement of financial position to omit disclosing the fair value and significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of such financial instruments. The standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permissible.
The University has adopted the ASU for fiscal years 2016 and 2015.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new ASU
establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires lessees to record an ROU asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. The ASU
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permissible.
The University is evaluating the impact of the new standard on its consolidated financial
statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements for
Not-for-Profit Entities. The ASU amends the financial reporting requirements in Topic 958,
Not-for-Profit Entities. Changes include revisions to the classification of net assets and expanded
liquidity disclosures. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017,
with early adoption permissible. The University is evaluating the impact of the new standard on
its consolidated financial statements.
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3 . i n ves t m e nt s
Managed Investments
All managed investments are reported at fair value. The fair value of marketable equity, debt,
and certain derivative securities (which includes both domestic and foreign issues) is generally
based upon a combination of published current market prices and exchange rates. The fair value
of restricted securities and other investments for which published market prices are not available
is based on estimated values using discounted cash flow analysis and other industry standard
methodologies. Where applicable, independent appraisers and engineers assist in the valuation.
The fair value of limited partnerships and similar investment vehicles is based on the net value
of such investments and is generally estimated by external investment managers, including
general partners or valuation committees. These valuations necessarily involve assumptions and
methods that are reviewed, evaluated, and adjusted, if necessary, by the University. Changes in
assumptions could have a significant effect on the fair values of these investments. Actual results
could differ from these estimates and could have a material impact on the financial statements.
These investments are generally less liquid than other investments, and the values reported may
differ from the values that would have been reported had a ready market for these securities
existed. Securities transactions are reported on a trade-date basis. Realized gains and losses are
calculated using the specific identification cost method.
A summary of managed investments by asset category at fair value at June 30, 2016 and
2015 is presented below. The managed investment categories are presented on a “managermandate” basis, that is, all of the assets and market value of the underlying funds and accounts
are included in the asset class that is the primary focus of the fund or account. (Many funds and
accounts have contractual flexibility to invest across more than one asset class.)
(dollars in millions)				
2016
Managed investments:
Domestic equity				
$ 2,218.3
International equity				3,108.2
Independent return				5,763.1
Private equity				7,049.1
Real assets				3,053.2
Fixed income				416.0
Cash and other				
199.4

$ 2,653.6
3,389.2
5,535.1
6,844.2
3,027.4
752.5
271.0

2015

Gross managed investments¹ 				

$ 21,807.3

$ 22,473.0

Receivables (liabilities) associated with investments—net			

(103.8)

(181.7)

Net managed investments 				

$ 21,703.5

$ 22,291.3

¹ Includes derivative financial instruments at fair value

The Princeton University Investment Company (Princo) manages investments for a foundation
that the University controls, the Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic Fund, and deposits held in custody for
others. The investment balances managed by Princo for these entities as of June 30, included in
the University’s consolidated financial statements, are as follows:
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(dollars in millions)				
2016
Princeton University				
$ 21,554.4
Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic Fund				
42.1
Deposits held in custody for others				
107.0

2015
$ 22,105.6
43.5
142.2

Net managed investments				

$ 22,291.3

$ 21,703.5

The composition of net investment return from managed and other investments for the years
ended June 30 was as follows:
(dollars in thousands)				
2016

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)				
Interest, dividends, and other income 				

$ (17,300)
155,433

2015
$ 2,373,809
145,322

Total				

$ 138,133

$ 2,519,131

Princeton University investments, together with the Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic Fund and
deposits held in custody for others, are invested in a single unitized pool. The market value of
each unit was $10,521.24 and $10,902.38 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The average
value of a unit during the years ending June 30, 2016 and 2015, was $10,473.19 and $10,264.36,
respectively.
The average invested market balance in the unitized pool during the years ending June 30,
2016 and 2015, was $21.494 billion and $20.899 billion, respectively.
The University follows a spending rule for its unitized investments, including funds
functioning as endowment, that provides for regular increases in spending while preserving the
long-term purchasing power of the endowment. Earnings available for spending are shown in
operating revenue, and the balance is shown as nonoperating revenue. Amounts distributed per
unit under that rule were $449.17 and $427.78 for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The University invests in various investment instruments. Investment securities, in general,
are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market volatility. Due to the
level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is reasonably possible that changes
in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could
materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.

Derivative Financial Instruments
As part of its investment strategy, the University enters into transactions utilizing a variety of
financial instruments and strategies, including futures, swaps, options, short sales, and forward
foreign currency contracts. These financial instruments and strategies allow the University to finetune the asset allocation of the investment portfolio. In all cases except forward foreign currency
exchange and swap contracts, these instruments are traded through securities and commodities
exchanges. The forward foreign currency and swap contracts are executed with creditworthy
banks and brokerage firms. These financial instruments are subject to an enforceable master
netting arrangement or similar agreement, and are presented at fair value on a net basis on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Investment-related derivative exposures at June 30 were as follows:
		
2016
(dollars in millions)

Long Notional¹	Short Notional¹
				
Net Derivative Assets
Index futures
$ 219.8
Equity swaps
249.9
$ 207.5
Forward contracts
1,699.3

Total

$ 469.7

$ 1,906.8

Net Derivative Assets	Gains (Losses)²
(Liabilities)
$ (4.4)
39.9
10.2

$ 4.6
66.9
2.5

$ 45.7

$ 74.0
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2015
(dollars in millions)

Long Notional¹	Short Notional¹
				
Net Derivative Assets
Index futures
$ 19.9
$ 230.3
Equity swaps
325.5
231.4
Forward contracts
Total

$ 345.4

Net Derivative Assets	Gains (Losses)²
(Liabilities)
$

$ 461.7

2.0
(30.0)
-

$ (21.7)
(120.2)
11.9

$ (28.0)

$ (130.0)

¹ Notional amounts are representative of the volume and activity of each derivative type during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.
²		Gains and losses on derivatives are recorded under “Net realized and unrealized appreciation on investments” in the Consolidated
Statement of Activities.

Investment-related derivative assets, liabilities, and collateral by counterparty at June 30 were as
follows:
Fair Value
2016		
Gross Derivative	Gross Derivative Collateral (Held)
(dollars in millions)
# of Contracts	Assets 	Liabilities	Pledged
Counterparty A
14
$ 29.3
$ (7.5)
$ (13.0)
6
12.6
(1.0)
(10.7)
Counterparty B
Counterparty C
6
6.3
(7.0)
10
6.6
(0.7)
Counterparty D

Net
$ 8.8
0.9
5.9

Total

$ 15.6
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$ 54.8

$ (9.2)

$ (30.7)

Fair Value
2015		
Gross Derivative	Gross Derivative Collateral (Held)
(dollars in millions)
# of Contracts	Assets	Liabilities	Pledged
Counterparty A
4
$ 3.7
$ (11.8)
$ 9.2
4
(19.8)
2.1
Counterparty B
Counterparty C
Counterparty D

$

Total

$ (16.6)

8

$ 3.7

$ (31.6)

$ 11.3

Net
1.1
(17.7)
-

Funds Held in Trust by Others
The University is the income beneficiary of various trusts that are held and controlled by
independent trustees. In addition, the University is the income beneficiary of entities that qualify
as supporting organizations under Section 509(a)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Funds
held in trust by others are recognized at the estimated fair value of the assets or the present value
of the future cash flows when the irrevocable trust is established or the University is notified of its
existence. Funds held in trust by others, stated at fair value, amounted to $144.4 million at June
30, 2016 and $154.2 million at June 30, 2015.

Other Investments
Other investments include working capital (consisting primarily of U.S. Treasury bonds), a
small number of funds that must be separately invested due to donor or legal restrictions, planned
giving investments, proceeds from debt, and local real estate holdings expected to be liquidated
strategically over several years. A summary of other investments at fair value at June 30, 2016
and 2015, is as follows:
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(dollars in millions)				
2016
Working capital				
$ 354.4
160.8
Planned giving investments				
Proceeds from debt				
114.4
Strategic real estate investments				
47.2
Other				1.5

2015
$ 378.7
178.4
75.4
47.2
5.7

$ 678.3

$ 685.4

Total				

4. Fair valu e m eas ur em e nts
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in GAAP, and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. Fair
value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value should be based on assumptions that market participants would use when pricing an
asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in valuation techniques
and the inputs to valuations. Fair value measurements assume that the transaction occurs in
the principal market for the asset or liability (the market with the most volume and activity
for the asset or liability from the perspective of the reporting entity), or in the absence of a
principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability (the market in which
the reporting entity would be able to maximize the amount received or minimize the amount
paid). The University applies fair value measurements to certain assets and liabilities, including
the University’s managed investments, other investments, and funds held in trust by others, in
accordance with the requirements described above.
The University maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value. Fair value is based on actively quoted market prices, if available.
In the absence of actively quoted market prices, price information from external sources, including
broker quotes and industry publications, is used. If pricing information from external sources is
not available, or if observable pricing is not indicative of fair value, judgment is required to develop
the estimates of fair value using discounted cash flow and other income valuation approaches.
The University utilizes the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes, into three broad
levels, the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that
the University has the ability to access at the measurement date. Instruments categorized in Level
1 primarily consist of a broadly traded range of equity and debt securities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly
or indirectly observable for the asset or liability, including quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive
markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, and inputs
that are derived from observable market data by correlation or other means.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, including situations where there is
little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. Instruments categorized in Level 3 consist
primarily of limited partnership interests and other similar investment vehicles.
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets (Level 1)
and the lowest priority to unobservable data (Level 3). In some cases, the inputs used to measure
fair value might fall in different levels of the fair value hierarchy. The lowest level input that is
significant to a fair value measurement in its entirety determines the applicable level in the fair
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value hierarchy. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. Fair value
measurements are categorized as Level 3 when a significant number of price or other inputs that
are considered to be unobservable are used in their valuations.
Investments in investee funds that are valued using the net asset value (NAV) of the
underlying investee fund as a practical expedient have been excluded from the fair value hierarchy
and are shown as a separate column in the fair value leveling table. Where the University has the
ability to redeem its investment with the investee at net asset value per share (or its equivalent)
using the practical expedient, such investments have been excluded from the fair value hierarchy.
Certain of these investments may be subject to modest holdback provisions to cover audit and
other potential expenses or adjustments in the event of a complete withdrawal.
The University has various processes and controls in place to ensure investment fair value is
reasonable and performs due diligence procedures on its investments, including an assessment of
applicable accounting policies, a review of the valuation procedures employed, and consideration
of redemption features and price transparency. The University holds direct real estate investments
categorized as Level 3. Valuation for material directly held real estate investments is determined
from periodic valuations prepared by independent appraisers or broker opinions.
The following tables present the University’s assets that are measured at fair value for each
hierarchy level, at June 30, 2016 and 2015:
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
			 Quoted Prices in	Significant Other		
			 Active Markets	Observable	Significant
NAV as
(dollars in millions)		
for Identical	Inputs	Unobservable	Practical
2016
Total 	Assets (Level 1)
(Level 2)	Inputs (Level 3)	Expedient
Assets at fair value
Managed investments (gross):
Domestic equity
$ 2,218.3
$ 109.8
$ 7.2
$ 1.2 $ 2,100.1
International equity
3,108.2
436.7
6.6
210.8
2,454.1
Independent return
5,763.1
5.4
5,757.7
Private equity
7,049.1
1.5
4.5
240.4
6,802.7
Real assets
3,053.2
127.7
31.8
7.5
2,886.2
Fixed income
416.0
416.0
Cash and other
199.4
250.8
(51.4)
Total managed investments (gross) 21,807.3
1,342.5
(1.3)
465.3
20,000.8
Funds held in trust by others
144.5
144.5
Other investments
678.3
472.2
206.1
Total

$ 22,630.1

2015
Assets at fair value
Managed investments (gross):
Domestic equity
$ 2,653.6
International equity
3,389.2
Independent return
5,535.1
Private equity
6,844.2
Real assets
3,027.4
Fixed income
752.5
Cash and other
271.0
Total managed investments (gross) 22,473.0
Funds held in trust by others
154.2
Other investments
685.4
Total
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$ 23,312.6

$ 1,814.7

$

$ (1.3)

$ 815.9 $ 20,000.8

146.7
675.9
0.7
123.8
752.5
269.2
1,968.8
461.1

$ (11.8)
1.7
(19.8)
1.8
(28.1)
-

$

2.4 $ 2,516.3
181.5
2,530.1
7.9
5,527.2
244.2
6,599.3
9.6
2,913.8
445.6
20,086.7
154.2
224.3
-

$ 2,429.9

$ (28.1)

$ 824.1 $ 20,086.7

Assets and liabilities of a majority-owned investment fund have been consolidated for
reporting purposes at June 30, 2016 and 2015. Managed investments, specifically the independent
return asset class, include consolidated investment fund assets of $995.4 million and $962.5
million at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and liabilities associated with investments include
consolidated investment fund liabilities of $180.6 million and $185.7 million at June 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively.
The following tables present the net change in the assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and included in the Level 3 fair value category for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:
Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
			 Total Gains 			
			 or Losses						
			Included in 			Transfers Transfers
		
June 30, Changes in		Sales and
into
out of
June 30,
(dollars in millions)
2015 Net Assets	Purchases	Settlements	Level 3	Level 3
2016
Assets at fair value
Managed investments (gross):
Domestic equity
$ 2.4
$ (1.2)
$ 1.2
International equity
181.5
18.3
$ 11.2
$ (0.2)
210.8
Independent return
7.9
1.1
(3.6)
5.4
Private equity
244.2
7.6
10.6
(22.0)
240.4
Real assets
9.6
(4.1)
(0.5) $ 2.5
7.5
Fixed income
Cash and other
Total managed investments (gross) 445.6
21.7
21.8
(26.3)
2.5
465.3
Funds held in trust by others
154.2
(11.5)
1.8
144.5
224.3
(17.0)
3.7
(4.9)
206.1
Other investments
Total Level 3 investments

$ 824.1

$ (6.8)

$ 27.3

$ (31.2)

$ 2.5

-

$ 815.9

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
			 Total Gains 			
			 or Losses						
			Included in 			Transfers Transfers
		
June 30, Changes in		Sales and
into
out of
June 30,
(dollars in millions)
2014 Net Assets	Purchases	Settlements	Level 3	Level 3
2015
Assets at fair value
Managed investments (gross):
Domestic equity
$ 2.0 $
0.4
$ 0.1
$ (0.1)
$ 2.4
International equity
229.5
(48.0)
0.1
(0.1)
181.5
Independent return
18.4
1.4
(11.9)
7.9
Private equity
281.5
(30.9)
20.5
(26.9)
244.2
Real assets
12.2
(1.6)
(1.0)
9.6
Fixed income
Cash and other
Total managed investments (gross) 543.6
(78.7)
20.7
(40.0)
445.6
Funds held in trust by others
161.0
(7.4)
2.1
(1.5)
154.2
Other investments
246.0
(21.8)
5.5
(5.4)
224.3
Total Level 3 investments

$ 950.6 $ (107.9)

$ 28.3

$ (46.9)

-

-

$ 824.1

The University assesses the valuation hierarchy for each asset or liability measured on an
annual basis. From time to time, assets or liabilities will be transferred within hierarchy levels as a
result of changes in valuation methodologies, liquidity, and/or redemption terms. One transfer to
Level 3 assets occurred in the year ended June 30, 2016. The University’s policy is to recognize
transfers at the beginning of the reporting period.
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Realized gains of $5.7 million and $14.0 million related to Level 3 investments and
unrealized losses of $12.5 million and $121.9 million related to Level 3 investments are included
in net realized and unrealized appreciation on investments in the consolidated statements of
activities for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The following tables and disclosures set forth the significant terms of the agreements with
investment managers or funds by major category at June 30, 2016 and 2015. The information is
presented on a “manager-mandate” basis.
		
(dollars in millions)

June 30	Unfunded
Fair Value Commitments

2016
Managed investments (gross)
Domestic equity (a)
International equity—developed (b)
International equity—emerging (c)
Independent return (d)
Fixed income and cash (e)

$ 2,218.3
1,028.8
2,079.4
5,763.1
615.4

$

181.2
233.4
503.0
-

Marketable asset classes

$ 11,705.0

$

917.6

Private equity (f)
Real assets (g)

7,049.1
3,053.2

2,716.4
1,837.9

Nonmarketable asset classes

$ 10,102.3

$ 4,554.3

Total gross managed investments

$ 21,807.3

$ 5,471.9

Managed investments (gross)
Domestic equity (a)
International equity—developed (b)
International equity—emerging (c)
Independent return (d)
Fixed income and cash (e)

$ 2,653.6
1,076.9
2,312.3
5,535.1
1,023.5

$

181.2
136.0
306.2
-

Marketable asset classes

$ 12,601.4

$

623.4

Redemption Frequency
(If Currently Eligible)

Redemption
Notice Period

daily—annually
daily—annually
daily—annually
monthly—annually
daily

4–90 days
7–90 days
7–90 days
30–90 days
1 day

daily—annually
daily—annually
daily—annually
monthly—annually
daily

4–90 days
7–90 days
7–90 days
30–90 days
1 day

2015

Private equity (f)
Real assets (g)

6,844.2
3,027.4

2,172.3
1,523.0

Nonmarketable asset classes

$ 9,871.6

$ 3,695.3

Total gross managed investments

$ 22,473.0

$ 4,318.7

(a) Domestic Equity: This asset class includes funds and accounts primarily invested in equities traded
on domestic exchanges or in domestic over-the-counter markets. The fair values of the investments
in this asset class have been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investee funds,
or, in the case of custodied accounts, the fair value of the securities held. Investments representing
approximately 4 percent of the market value of this asset class are invested in nonredeemable assets.
(b) International Equity—Developed: This asset class includes funds primarily invested in public
equity and debt securities traded in countries with developed economies other than the United
States. The fair values of the investments in this asset class have been estimated using the net
asset value per share of the investee funds. Investments representing approximately 13 percent of
the market value of this asset class are invested in nonredeemable assets.
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(c) International Equity—Emerging: This asset class includes funds primarily invested in public
equity and debt securities traded in countries with emerging economies. The fair values of
the investments in this asset class have been estimated using the net asset value per share of
the investee funds or, in the case of custodied accounts, the fair value of the securities held, at
prevailing exchange rates. Investments representing approximately 6 percent of the market value
of this asset class are invested in nonredeemable assets.
(d) Independent Return: This asset class includes funds invested in equity and debt securities and
financial instruments such as options, swaps, futures, and other derivatives. Funds in this asset
class may hold both long and short positions in any of these instruments and pursue a variety
of investment strategies based upon the fund’s investment mandate and the current opportunity
set. In general terms, approximately 32 percent of independent return market value is invested
in funds principally focused on long/short equity investments, 25 percent is invested in eventdriven/arbitrage strategies, and 43 percent is invested in funds that opportunistically engage in
both strategies. Investments representing approximately 16 percent of the market value of this
asset class are invested in nonredeemable assets.
(e) Fixed Income and Cash: On a combined basis, these asset classes include primarily U.S.
government and U.S. government–guaranteed securities held in separate accounts at the
custodial bank. Virtually all of the investments in these asset classes can be liquidated on a daily
basis.
(f) Private Equity: This asset class includes funds invested primarily in buyouts or venture
capital. The fair values of the investments in this asset class have generally been estimated using
partners’ capital statements issued by the funds, which reflect the University’s ownership interest.
Generally, investments in this asset class are not redeemable. Distributions from investee funds in
the portfolio are received as the underlying investments of the funds are liquidated.
(g) Real Assets: This asset class includes funds invested primarily in real estate, energy, and
timber. The fair values of the investments in this asset class have been estimated using partners’
capital statements issued by the funds, which reflect the University’s ownership interest.
Generally, investments in this asset class are not redeemable. However, a small portion, $175.0
million at June 30, 2016, and $196.2 million at June 30, 2015, was invested in redeemable funds.
More broadly, distributions from investee funds are received as the underlying investments of the
funds are liquidated.
Investments in the marketable asset classes are generally redeemable, made in entities that
allow the University to request withdrawals in specified circumstances. However, approximately
$1.2 billion of the marketable asset classes are invested in “nonredeemable assets,” which are not
eligible for redemption by the University. Nonredeemable assets are specific investments within
a fund designated by the fund manager as ineligible for withdrawal. Due to the illiquid nature of
nonredeemable assets, it is impossible for the University to predict when these assets will be
liquidated and the proceeds distributed to investors.
In addition to nonredeemable assets, the University may be limited in its ability to effect a
withdrawal if a fund manager invokes a “gate” provision restricting redemptions from its fund.
Gates are generally triggered when aggregate fund withdrawal requests exceed a contractually
predetermined threshold. No withdrawal requests were impacted by a gate in the year ended
June 30, 2016.
The University is obligated under certain agreements to fund capital calls periodically up to
specified commitment amounts. At June 30, 2016, the University had unfunded commitments
of $5.5 billion. Such commitments are generally called over periods of up to 10 years and contain
fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.
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5 . End owm e nt
The University’s endowment consists of approximately 4,300 individual funds established for a
variety of purposes. The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds
designated by the University to function as endowments. As required by GAAP, net assets associated
with endowment funds, including funds designated by the University to function as endowments,
are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
ASC 958-205-45-28, Not-for-Profit Entities—Presentation of Financial Statements—
Other Presentation Matters—Classification of Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to
the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, provides guidance on the net asset
classification of donor-restricted endowment funds for a not-for-profit organization that is subject
to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006
(UPMIFA), which was enacted in the state of New Jersey in June 2009.

Interpretation of Relevant Law
The University interprets the UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the fair value at the
original gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit donor stipulations to
the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the University classifies as permanently restricted
net assets: (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original
value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the
time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted net
assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for
expenditure by the University in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed
by UPMIFA. The University considers the following factors in making a determination to
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:
(1) The duration and preservation of the fund
(2) The purposes of the University and the donor-restricted endowment fund
(3) General economic conditions
(4) The possible effect of inflation and deflation
(5) The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
(6) Other resources of the University
(7) The investment policies of the University
Endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, was:
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2016 (dollars in thousands)		
Unrestricted
Donor-restricted endowment funds
$
(535)
Board-designated endowment funds		
9,049,775

Temporarily	Permanently
Restricted
Restricted
$ 10,796,205
$ 1,750,003
-

Total
$ 12,545,673
9,049,775

Total		

$ 9,049,240

$ 10,796,205

$ 1,750,003

$ 21,595,448

2015 (dollars in thousands)
Donor-restricted endowment funds		
Board-designated endowment funds		

$ 9,278,348

$ 11,219,923
-

$ 1,649,703
-

$ 12,869,626
9,278,348

Total		

$ 9,278,348

$ 11,219,923

$ 1,649,703

$ 22,147,974

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, were:
				 Temporarily	Permanently
2016 (dollars in thousands)		
Unrestricted
Restricted
Restricted
Endowment net assets, beginning of the year
$ 9,278,348 $ 11,219,923
$ 1,649,703
Investment return:
Net realized and unrealized appreciation		
73,178
81,036
887
Reclassification for funds with deficiencies
(535)
535
Total investment return		

2016 Total
$ 22,147,974
155,101
-

$ 72,643

$ 81,571

$ 887

$ 155,101

Contributions		 13,699
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (404,369)
Reclassifications, transfers, and board designations 88,919

1,056
(511,904)
5,559

94,872
4,541

109,627
(916,273)
99,019

$ 10,796,205

$ 1,750,003

$ 21,595,448

Endowment net assets, end of the year		

$ 9,049,240

				 Temporarily	Permanently
2015 (dollars in thousands)		
Unrestricted
Restricted
Restricted
Endowment net assets, beginning of the year
$ 8,023,126 $ 10,721,605
$ 1,697,187
Investment return:
Net realized and unrealized appreciation		
1,574,425
821,251
Contributions		 14,616
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (262,253)
Reclassifications, transfers, and board designations (71,566)
Endowment net assets, end of the year		

$ 9,278,348

2015 Total
$ 20,441,918
2,395,676

1,460
(602,799)
278,406

72,608
(120,092)

88,684
(865,052)
86,748

$ 11,219,923

$ 1,649,703

$ 22,147,974

Funds with Deficiencies
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below the level that the donor of UPMIFA requires the University to retain as
a fund of perpetual duration. Deficiencies of this nature that are reported in unrestricted net
assets were $0.5 million at June 30, 2016. There were no funds with deficiencies at June 30,
2015. Deficiencies can result from unfavorable market fluctuations that occur shortly after the
investment of new permanently restricted contributions while continued appropriations are
deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees.
In accordance with the terms of donor gift instruments, the University is permitted to reduce
the balance of restricted endowments below the original amount of the gift. Subsequent investment
gains are then used to restore the balance up to the fair market value of the original amount of the
gift. Subsequent gains above that amount are recorded in temporarily restricted net assets.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters
The University has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt
to support the University’s current and future operating needs, while preserving intergenerational
equity. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the University must
hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods as well as University-designated funds. Under
these policies, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce returns
that exceed both the annual rate of spending and university inflation.

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives
The vast majority of the endowment assets are actively managed by Princo, which is structured
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as a University office, but maintains its own Board of Directors, and operates under the final
authority of the University’s Board of Trustees (the “Trustees”).
In pursuit of the investment return objectives, Princo maintains an equity-biased portfolio
and seeks to partner with best-in-class investment management firms across diverse asset categories.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy
Each year the Trustees decide upon an amount to be spent from the endowment for the following
fiscal year. In their deliberations, the Trustees use a spending framework that is designed to
enable sizable amounts to be spent in a reasonably stable fashion, while allowing for reinvestment
sufficient to preserve purchasing power in perpetuity. The framework targets annual spending
rates of between 4.0 percent and 6.25 percent.
The endowment must seek investment returns sufficient to meet spending policy targets
as well as to maintain future purchasing power without deterioration of corpus resulting from
university inflation.

6 . Ed u c ati on al and m ortg ag e loan s
Educational loans include donor-restricted and federally sponsored educational loans that bear
mandated interest rates and repayment terms, and are subject to significant restrictions on their
transfer and disposition. These loans totaled $65.0 million and $64.8 million at June 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively.
Through a program designed to attract and retain excellent faculty and senior staff, the
University provides home acquisition and financing assistance on residential properties in the area
surrounding the University. Notes receivable from faculty and staff and co-ownership interests
in the properties are included in mortgage loans and are collateralized by mortgages on those
properties. These loans and interests totaled $330.6 million and $313.7 million at June 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Loans
Management assesses the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful loans by performing evaluations
of the loan portfolio, including such factors as the differing economic risks associated with each
loan category, the financial condition of borrowers, the economic environment, the level of
delinquent loans, and the value of any collateral associated with the loans. In addition to general
economic conditions and other factors described above, a detailed review of the aging of loans
receivable is considered in management’s assessment. The level of the allowance is adjusted
according to the results of management’s analysis.
Loans less than 120 days delinquent are deemed to have a minimal delay in payment and
are generally not written off. Loans delinquent by 120 days or more are subject to standard
collection practices, including litigation. Only loans that are deemed uncollectible are written
off, and this occurs only after several unsuccessful collection attempts, including placement at an
external collection agency. Considering the other factors discussed herein, management considers
the allowance for doubtful loans at June 30, 2016 and 2015, to be prudent and reasonable.
Educational and mortgage loans receivable at June 30, 2016 and 2015, are reported net of
allowances for doubtful loans of $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
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7. Pro m ises t o gi ve
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the University had received from donors unconditional promises to
give contributions of amounts receivable in the following periods:
(dollars in thousands)				
2016

$ 75,600
90,335
23,441

2015
$ 89,043
94,525
14,319

Total				189,376

197,887

Less than one year				
One to five years				
More than five years				
Less unamortized discount and reserve				

11,096

11,457

Net amount				

$ 178,280

$ 186,430

The amounts promised have been recorded after discounting the future cash flows to the
present value. Current-year promises are included in revenue as additions to temporarily or
permanently restricted net assets, as determined by the donors, and are included in contributions
receivable at fair value based on observable ASC 820 Level 2 inputs.
In addition, at June 30, 2016, the University had received from donors promises to give
totaling $6.3 million, conditioned upon the raising of matching gifts from other sources and other
criteria. These amounts will be recognized as income in the periods in which the conditions have
been fulfilled.

8. Pro pert y
Land additions are reported at estimated market value at the date of gift, or on a cost basis.
Buildings and improvements are stated at cost. Expenditures for operation and maintenance of
physical plant are expensed as incurred.
Items classified as property at June 30, 2016 and 2015, consisted of the following:
(dollars in thousands)				
2016

Land				 $ 114,272
Buildings and improvements				
4,123,404
Construction in progress				
331,167
Equipment and systems				  361,528
Rare books				
104,063
Library books, periodicals, and bindings				
286,816
Fine art objects				
132,202

$

2015
113,891
3,815,443
353,023
342,446
98,878
281,844
126,805

Total property				5,453,452

5,132,330

Accumulated depreciation				(1,501,062)

(1,378,654)

Total				

$ 3,753,676

$ 3,952,390

Equipment, library books, periodicals, and bindings are stated at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation. Equipment includes items purchased with federal government funds; an
indeterminate number of those items are expected to be transferred to the University at the
termination of the respective grant or contract.
In addition to making purchases with University funds, the University, since its inception,
has received a substantial number of fine art objects and rare books from individual gifts and
bequests. Art objects and rare books acquired through June 30, 1973, are carried at insurable
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values at that date because it is not practicable to determine the historical cost or market value at
the date of gift. Art objects and rare books acquired subsequent to June 30, 1973, are recorded at
cost or fair value at the date of gift. Works of art, literary works, historical treasures, and artifacts
that are part of a collection are protected, preserved, and held for public exhibition, education, and
research in furtherance of public service. Collections are not capitalized, and contributed collection
items are not recognized as revenues in the University’s financial statements.
The University uses componentized depreciation for buildings and building improvements
used for research. The costs of research facilities are separated into building shell, service system,
and fixed equipment components that are separately depreciated.
Annual depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over useful lives ranging from
15 to 50 years for buildings and improvements, 30 years for library books, and 10 and 15 years
for equipment. Art objects and rare books having cultural, aesthetic, or historical value are not
depreciated.

9 . Co nd i t i o n al as s e t r e ti r e m e nt o bli g at i o n s
Under ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations—Asset Retirement
Obligations, companies must accrue costs related to legal obligations to perform certain activities
in connection with the retirement, disposal, or abandonment of assets. The obligation to perform
the asset retirement activity is not conditional even though the timing or method may be conditional.
The University has identified asbestos abatement as a conditional asset retirement
obligation. Asbestos abatement was estimated using site-specific surveys where available and a
per-square-foot estimate based on historical cost where surveys were unavailable. The estimate
is recorded as a liability and as an increase to the asset, and the capitalized portion is depreciated
over the remaining useful life of the asset. The asset retirement obligation included in accrued
liabilities was $13.2 million and $12.8 million at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and
accretion expense on the asset retirement obligation was $0.3 million and $0.4 million for the
years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

1 0 . Inc om e tax es
ASC 740, Income Taxes, prescribes the minimum recognition threshold a tax position must
meet in connection with accounting for uncertainties in income tax positions taken or expected
to be taken by an entity before being measured and recognized in the financial statements. The
University continues to evaluate its tax positions pursuant to the principles of ASC 740, and has
determined that there is no material impact on the University’s financial statements.
The University is a not-for-profit organization as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code and is exempt from income taxes on related income. The University files
U.S. federal and various state and local tax returns. The statute of limitations on the University’s
U.S. federal tax returns remains open for the years ended June 30, 2013, through the present.
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11. Defe rr e d r eve n u es
Deferred revenues primarily represent advance receipts relating to the University’s real estate
leasing activities. Such amounts are amortized over the term of the related leases.

12. i nd eb t e dn es s t o th i rd pa rt i es
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the University’s debt consisted of taxable bonds, taxable notes, loans
through the New Jersey Educational Facilities Authority (NJEFA), commercial paper, various
parent loans, and a note as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

2016

2015

Taxable Revenue Bonds
2009 Series A, 4.95% and 5.70%, due March 2019 and March 2039, net of unamortized
discount of $2,526 and $2,636
2016 Series A, 1.85%, 2.61%, 3.63%, due July 2021, July 2026, July 2046

$

997,474

$

997,364

100,000

-

2012, 3.372%, due July 2042

170,000

170,000

2013, 4.72%, due July 2044

75,000

75,000

Taxable Notes

NJEFA Revenue Bonds
34,364

45,119

2006 Series D, 4.39%, due July 2031, including unamortized premium of $0 and $603

2003 Series D, 3.73%, due July 2019, including unamortized premium of $2,054 and $2,739

-

58,258

2006 Series E, 4.50%, due July 2027, including unamortized premium of $0 and $57

-

91,727

271,274

278,866

2007 Series E, 4.53%, due July 2037, including unamortized premium of $3,609 and $3,781

62,904

67,354

2008 Series J, 4.39%, due July 2038, including unamortized premium of $3,463 and $3,620

2007 Series F, 4.39%, due July 2030, including unamortized premium of $559 and $599

218,563

224,355

2008 Series K, 4.36%, due July 2023, including unamortized premium of $3,466 and $3,961

109,231

124,766

2010 Series B, 4.03%, due July 2040, including unamortized premium of $9,732 and $10,137

235,657

241,207

2011 Series B, 4.09%, due July 2041, including unamortized premium of $13,634 and $14,179

245,534

250,929

2014 Series A, 3.77%, due July 2044, including unamortized premium of $17,971 and $18,613

215,386

218,613

2015 Series A, 2.32% due July 2035, including unamortized premium of $28,779 and $30,293

182,294

187,083

2015 Series D, 3.40% due July 2045, including unamortized premium of $19,133 and $19,793

169,133

169,793

2016 Series A, 2.53% due July 2035, including unamortized premium of $22,145

131,645

-

2016 Series B, 1.77% due July 2027, including unamortized premium of $28,837

146,657

-

-

832

2005 Series A, 4.12%, 2000 Series A, 5.72%, due September 2020

574

702

2006 Series A, 4.42%, 2000 Series A, 5.72%, due September 2020

165

166

3,102

3,215

NJEFA Dormitory Safety Trust Fund Bonds
2001 Series A, due January 2016
NJEFA Capital Improvement Fund Bonds

2014 Series B, 3.67%, due September 2033, including unamortized premium of $200 and $211

Commercial Paper				
Taxable, 0.12% and 0.08% with maturities up to one year

64,800

5,700

Tax-exempt (NJEFA), 0.08% and 0.04% with maturities up to one year

29,000

59,000

Parent Loans, 0.5% to 5.4% with maturities up to nine years

44,343

43,489

735

906

$ 3,507,835

$ 3,314,444

Notes
Total Borrowings
Unamortized debt issuance costs
Total Borrowings Net of Unamortized Issuance Costs

(12,283)

(13,031)

$ 3,495,552

$ 3,301,413
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In March 2016, the University issued the 2016 Series A Taxable Bonds for general
corporate purposes.
The proceeds of NJEFA loans are used primarily to finance the costs of acquisition,
construction, renovation, and installation of capital assets of the University.
In April 2016, the University issued the NJEFA 2016 Series A Bonds and the 2016 Series
B Bonds. The 2016 Series A Bonds were issued for the purpose of funding new construction
and renovations, and for the refunding of portions of the taxable and tax-exempt commercial
papers notes. The 2016 Series B Bonds were issued for the purpose of the current refunding and
defeasance of the 2006 Series D and 2006 Series E Bonds. The University is authorized by the
Trustees to issue new debt up to $350 million annually. The University intends to issue additional
debt in the future.
The full faith and credit of the University is pledged in all loan agreements with the NJEFA.
In fiscal 1999, the University entered into a loan facility with a national bank to fund its parent
loan program, which is currently authorized by the Trustees up to $100 million. Fixed or variable
rates may be selected on a pass-through basis to the borrowers; terms may be as long as 14 years.
In fiscal year 1998, a commercial paper program was authorized as an initial step of financing
to provide construction funds for approved capital projects. The commercial paper proceeds are
primarily used to finance construction expenditures until permanent financing from gifts or other
sources is made available. The program is currently authorized to a maximum level of $300 million.
Principal payments for each of the next five years and thereafter on debt outstanding at
June 30, 2016, excluding commercial paper, are as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter
Subtotal
Unamortized premium
Net long-term debt

Principal Payments
$
98,186
88,002
583,884
89,935
107,793
2,295,180
3,262,980
151,055
$ 3,414,035

The University has committed bank lines of credit totaling $300 million, under which the
University may borrow on an unsecured basis at agreed-upon rates. There were $18.3 million
and $16.9 million in letters of credit outstanding under these credit facilities at June 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively.

1 3 . E m pl oy ee b e ne f i t p la n s
All faculty and staff who meet specific employment requirements participate in a defined
contribution plan, which invests in the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association and College
Retirement Equities Fund and Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Funds. The University’s contributions
were $52.3 million and $53.5 million for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
ASC 715, Compensation—Retirement Benefits, requires the recognition of a defined benefit
postretirement plan’s funded status as either an asset or a liability on the statement of financial
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position. Actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period
must be recognized as a component of unrestricted net assets. The University calculates its
Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation (APBO) in accordance with ASC 715, which
was initially elected in 1993 and amortized over 20 years. The University continues to recognize
the cost of providing postretirement benefits for employees over the period of their working years.
The University provides single-coverage health insurance to its retirees who meet certain
eligibility requirements. Participants may purchase additional dependent or premium coverage.
The accounting for the plan anticipates future cost-sharing changes to the written plan that are
consistent with the University’s expressed intent to increase retiree contributions in line with
medical costs.
The benefit costs for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, consisted of the following:
(dollars in thousands)				
2016

Service cost				
$ 18,434
Interest cost				17,022

2015
$ 17,479
15,416

Total				

$ 32,895

$ 35,456

The APBO at June 30, 2016 and 2015, consisted of actuarially determined obligations to the following categories of
employees:
(dollars in thousands)				
2016

Retirees				
Active employees eligible to retire				
Other active participants				

$ 150,327
129,857
203,226

2015
$ 130,175
98,822
153,651

Total				

$ 483,410

$ 382,648

As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the APBO was unfunded.
An assumed discount rate of 3.75 percent and 4.5 percent was used to calculate the
APBO at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The assumed health care cost trend rate used
to calculate the APBO at June 30, 2016 was 6.2 percent, declining by 0.24 percent per year
until the long-term trend rate of 5.0 percent is reached for medical claims. For prescription drug
claims, the assumed health care cost trend rate used to calculate the APBO at June 30, 2016 was
9.0 percent, declining by 0.08 percent per year until the long-term trend rate of 5.0 percent is
reached. The assumed health care cost trend rate used to calculate the APBO at June 30, 2015
was 7.75 percent, declining by 0.3 percent per year until the long-term trend rate of 5.0 percent
is reached, for medical claims. For prescription drug claims, the assumed health care cost trend
rate used to calculate the APBO at June 30, 2015 was 7.75 percent, declining by 0.55 percent per
year until the long-term trend rate of 5.0 percent is reached. An increase of 1 percent in the cost
trend rate would raise the APBO to $594.4 million and $465.8 million and cause the service and
interest cost components of the net periodic cost to be increased by $10.3 million and $9.4 million
for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. A decrease of 1 percent in the cost
trend rate would decrease the APBO to $398.9 million and $318.8 million and cause the service
and interest cost components of the net periodic cost to be decreased by $7.5 million and $7.0
million for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Postretirement plan benefit payments for fiscal years 2017 through 2021 are expected to
range from $9.5 million to $13.2 million per year, with aggregate expected payments of $80.9
million for fiscal years 2022 through 2026. These amounts reflect the total benefits expected
to be paid from the plan, net of the participants’ share of the cost and federal subsidies.
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Expected benefit payments are based on the same assumptions used to measure the benefit
obligations and include estimated future employee service.
The University provides Medicare retiree drug coverage through an employer group waiver
plan (EGWP). Under EGWP, the cost of drug coverage is offset through direct federal subsidies,
brand-name drug discounts, and reinsurance reimbursements. The net effect of these subsidies
has been recognized in the calculation of the University’s postretirement benefit obligation as of
June 30, 2016 and 2015.

1 4 . Ne t as s e t s
Net assets are categorized as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted.
Unrestricted net assets are derived from gifts and other institutional resources that are not
subject to explicit donor-imposed restrictions. The unrestricted category also includes income and
gains on these funds. Included in the total is the net investment in plant and equipment. Certain
net assets classified as unrestricted for external reporting purposes are designated for specific
purposes or uses under the internal operating budget practices of the University. Restricted net
assets are generally established by donors in support of schools or departments of the University,
often for specific purposes such as professorships, research, faculty support, scholarships and
fellowships, athletics, the library, the art museum, building construction, and other specific
purposes. Temporarily restricted net assets include gifts, pledges, trusts and remainder interests,
and income and gains that can be expended but for which restrictions have not yet been met.
Such restrictions include purpose restrictions and time restrictions imposed by donors or implied
by the nature of the gift, or by the interpretations of law. Temporary restrictions are normally
released upon the passage of time or the incurrence of expenditures that fulfill the donor-specified
purpose. Permanently restricted net assets include gifts, pledges, trusts and remainder interests,
and income and gains that are required by donor-imposed restrictions to be permanently retained.
Investment earnings are spent for general or specific purposes in accordance with donor wishes,
based on the University’s endowment spending rule.

1 5 . Natu r al c l as si f ic at i on o f e x p en s e s
Operating expenses incurred for the years ended June 30 were as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

2016
653,477
265,189
169,493
113,116
68,442
24,760
21,634
61,017
150,326
143,286

Salaries and wages
Employee benefits
Purchased services
Supplies and materials
Space and occupancy
Sub-recipient agreements
Other expenses
Other student aid
Depreciation
Interest

$

Total

$ 1,670,740

$

2015
625,757
180,712
172,604
107,843
73,495
25,333
17,765
55,321
138,838
143,952

$ 1,541,620

Certain prior-year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation.
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16. Com m i tm e nt s a nd c o nt i n ge nc i e s
At June 30, 2016, the University had authorized major renovation and capital construction
projects for more than $986.7 million. Of the total, approximately $285.8 million had not yet
been expended.
Minimum operating lease commitments at June 30, 2016, for space and equipment were as
follows:
(dollars in thousands)					
Lease Payments

2017					
$ 6,525
2018					6,525
2019					6,525
2020					6,765
2021					5,542
Thereafter					13,600
Total					

$ 45,482

The University has entered into certain agreements to guarantee the debt of others. Under
these agreements, if the principal obligor defaults on the debt, the University may be required
to satisfy all or part of the remaining obligation. The total amount of these guarantees was $21.9
million at June 30, 2016.
The University is subject to certain legal claims that have arisen in the normal course of
operations. In the opinion of management, the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a
material effect on the University’s financial position, statement of activities, or cash flows.

17. S ubse qu e nt E ve nt s
The University has evaluated subsequent events through November 21, 2016, and determined
that there were no subsequent events requiring adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements.
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